
Members 
Donald Erickson, Chair 
Sean Gaffney, Vice-Chair 
Theresa Dusek 
Benjamin Fields 
Mark Lawlis 
Tina Lee  
Matthew Nutsch 
Erle Thompson 
Scott Winship 
 
Community and Economic Development Department 
Ryan Petty, Director 
Peter Huffman, Assistant Director 
Charles Solverson, P.E., Building Official 

Public Works and Utilities Representatives 747 Market Street, Room 1036 
Kurtis Kingsolver, Assistant Director/City Engineer, Public Works Department  Tacoma, WA  98402-3793 
Heather Pennington, Resource Planning Manager, Tacoma Water 253-591-5200 (phone) / 253-591-2002 (fax) 
Diane Lachel, Community and Government Relations Manager, Click! Network, Tacoma Power www.cityoftacoma.org/planning 

 (Agenda also posted at: www.cityoftacoma.org/planning > “Planning Commission” > “Agendas-Minutes-Recordings”) 

 The City of Tacoma does not discriminate on the basis of disability in any of its programs, activities, or services. To request this information in 
an alternative format or to request a reasonable accommodation, please contact the Community and Economic Development Department at 
(253) 591-5200 (voice) or (253) 591-5820 (TTY). 

Agenda   

Tacoma Planning Commission 

 
MEETING: Regular Meeting 
 
TIME:  Wednesday, September 5, 2012, 4:00 p.m.  
 
PLACE: Room 16, Tacoma Municipal Building North 

733 Market Street, Tacoma, WA 98402 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
B. QUORUM CALL 
 
C. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – Regular Meeting on August 1, 2012 
 
D. GENERAL BUSINESS 
 
(4:05 p.m.) 1. Regional Transfer of Development Rights (TDR) 

Description: Review the status of implementing a TDR program within the City. 

Actions Requested: Review; Discussion  

Support Information: See “Agenda Item GB-1” 

Staff Contact: Ian Munce, 573-2478, imunce@cityoftacoma.org 
 
(4:30 p.m.) 2. MLK Subarea Plan and EIS 

Description: Review the status of the project, community outreach efforts, public 
comment received, major issues, and next steps. 

Actions Requested: Review; Discussion 

Support Information: See “Agenda Item GB-2” 

Staff Contact: Brian Boudet, 573-2389, bboudet@cityoftacoma.org 

 
 
 

mailto:imunce@cityoftacoma.org
mailto:imunce@cityoftacoma.org
mailto:bboudet@cityoftacoma.org


Agenda for Regular Meeting on Wednesday, September 5, 2012 Page 2 
 
 
 

 

E. COMMUNICATION ITEMS 
 
1. Hearing Examiner’s Decision on Conditional Use Permit for Building Expansion by 

McClendon Hardware, August 2, 2012 – “Agenda Item C-1” 

2. Letter from Dale Cope, July 30, 2012, concerning Electronic Signs – “Agenda Item C-2” 

3. Planning Commission Accomplishments (July 2011 – June 2012) – “Agenda Item C-3” 

4. Planning Commission Tentative Agenda for September 19, 2012: 
• 2013 Annual Amendment Application #4 – Transportation Element 
• 2013 Annual Amendment Application #7 – Adoption and Amendment Procedures  

 
F. COMMENTS BY LONG-RANGE PLANNING DIVISION 

 
G. COMMENTS BY PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
H. ADJOURNMENT 



Members 
Donald Erickson, Chair 
Sean Gaffney, Vice-Chair 
Theresa Dusek 
Benjamin Fields 
Mark Lawlis 
Tina Lee  
Matthew Nutsch 
Erle Thompson 
Scott Winship 
 
Community and Economic Development Department 
Martha Anderson, Interim Director 
Peter Huffman, Assistant Director 
Charles Solverson, P.E., Building Official 

Public Works and Utilities Representatives 747 Market Street, Room 1036 
Kurtis Kingsolver, Assistant Director/City Engineer, Public Works Department  Tacoma, WA  98402-3793 
Heather Pennington, Resource Planning Manager, Tacoma Water 253-591-5200 (phone) / 253-591-2002 (fax) 
Diane Lachel, Community and Government Relations Manager, Click! Network, Tacoma Power www.cityoftacoma.org/planning 

 
(Draft for Review/Approval) 

 
 

 The City of Tacoma does not discriminate on the basis of disability in any of its programs, activities, or services. To request this information in 
an alternative format or to request a reasonable accommodation, please contact the Community and Economic Development Department at 
(253) 591-5200 (voice) or (253) 591-5820 (TTY). 

Minutes   

Tacoma Planning Commission 

MEETING: Regular Meeting 
 
TIME: Wednesday, August 1, 2012, 4:00 p.m. 
 
PLACE: Room 16, Tacoma Municipal Building North 

733 Market Street, Tacoma, WA  98402 
 
Members 
Present: 

Donald Erickson (Chair), Sean Gaffney (Vice-Chair), Ben Fields, Tina Lee, 
Matthew Nutsch, Erle Thompson, Scott Winship 

  
Members 
Absent: 

Theresa Dusek 

  
Staff 
Present: 

Brian Boudet, Ian Munce (BLUS); Josh Diekmann (Public Works) 

 
 
Chair Erickson called the meeting to order at 4:05 p.m.  The minutes of the regular meeting and 
public hearing on July 18, 2012 were approved as submitted.   
 
 

GENERAL BUSINESS 
 
1. Code Streamlining 2012 
 
Ian Munce facilitated the Commissioners’ review of the public comments received at the public 
hearing on July 18, 2012 and through the comment period ending on July 20, concerning the 
“Code Streamlining 2012” – proposed code amendments for (1) allowing “live-work” and “work-
live” uses in Downtown and Mixed-Use Districts; (2) increasing SEPA review thresholds; and (3) 
adding a parking exemption for existing buildings in Commercial Districts outside Downtown and 
the Mixed-Use Districts.  Mr. Munce presented a draft Findings and Recommendations Report 
and a draft Letter of Recommendation for the Commission’s consideration.  
 
Concerning the “live-work/work-live” component, Mr. Munce indicated that, in response to public 
comment, staff is recommending two modifications to the provision of “up to 10% of new floor 
area may be added for the purposes of creating living or working space without triggering a 
change in use.”  The modifications would clarify that 10% of new floor area may be added either 



internally or externally, and clarify that the provision does not extend to adaptive reuses that 
involve more than 20 dwelling units or more than 12,000 square feet of commercial space in a 
particular building. 
 
Commissioners discussed how these proposed regulations could increase possibilities for 
converting buildings to include “live-work” and “work-live” units, and following lengthy debate as 
to whether or not live-work should be applied to new construction, the Commissioners voted 4-3 
in favor of “live-work” and “work-live” units being allowed for existing buildings only.  
Commissioners in favor of this expressed an increased comfort of approving the “reduced 
package” as a phase-1 trial that could be expanded to include new buildings if there was 
measureable success and future demand.  The majority of Commissioners supported narrowing 
the application as a tool for funneling the anticipated “live-work” and “work-live” development to 
existing structures as an incentive to their reuse and consistency with City sustainability 
objectives.  As to the proposed threshold for the number of “live-work” and “work-live” units 
allowed per building, some Commissioners suggested allowing up to 40-50 units.  In the end, 
the Commission voted 4-3 in favor of setting the threshold at 20 units.  
 
The Commissioners also brought up the need for supplemental code provisions to address life 
safety issues.  Discussion ensued, and the Commissioners suggested adding a general design 
requirement that exterior additions shall be in conformance with the character of the existing 
building.   
 
Regarding the “SEPA review thresholds” component, the Commissioners were concerned that 
increasing the threshold for parking to 40 spaces may be inconsistent with the policy of 
discouraging new surface parking lots in the Downtown and Mixed-Use Centers.  However, 
some Commissioners acknowledged that the City has existing code for regulating parking and 
that in the past very few SEPA determinations added conditions for parking development.  
 
Concerning the “parking exemption” component, the Commissioners agreed that the parking 
regulations applicable to the C-1 and C-2 Commercial Districts should be less restrictive. 
 
The Commissioners voted 7-0 in favor of approving the draft Findings and Recommendations 
Report and the draft Letter of Recommendation, as amended, and acknowledged that there 
were certain issues the Planning Commission was not in full agreement on and that these 
issues should be highlighted in future staff presentation to the City Council. 
 
 
2. 2013 Annual Amendment 
 
Ian Munce and Brian Boudet presented the 2013 Annual Amendment Assessment Report, 
which evaluates the following twelve applications against the required assessment criteria in 
TMC 13.02.045.F: Drive-through Regulations, Countywide Planning Policies, Container Port 
Element, Transportation Element, Shoreline Related Elements, Development Intensity 
Designations, Adoption and Amendment Procedures, Platting and Subdivision Regulations, 
Sign Regulations, Affordable Housing Regulations, Trail-Friendly Regulations, and Plan and 
Code Cleanup.   
 
Concerning Shoreline Related Elements, there was concern expressed by the Commission 
about rescinding three shoreline related elements of the Comprehensive Plan, i.e., the Thea 
Foss Waterway Design and Development Plan, the Ruston Way Plan, and the Shoreline Trials 
Plan.  Mr. Munce indicated that the policy principles of these documents were incorporated into 

Planning Commission Minutes – Regular Meeting, August 1, 2012 Page 2 



Planning Commission Minutes – Regular Meeting, August 1, 2012 Page 3 

the Shoreline Master Program (SMP) in 2011 and critical design elements from these three 
plans will be identified and incorporated into the Shoreline Design Guidelines, and/or the 
Comprehensive Plan, and/or development regulations.   
 
Concerning Development Intensity Designations, Mr. Munce and Mr. Boudet indicated that this 
is a huge endeavor that may be accomplished in phases.  This endeavor would amend various 
elements of the Comprehensive Plan and the Land Use Regulatory Code to revise the current 
land use designation approach from Land Use intensities to a more simplified and easily 
understood classification system. 
 
Concerning Platting and Subdivision Regulations, Mr. Munce described that this mainly consists 
of raising the flexible threshold for short-platting from 4 lots to 9 lots, which is allowed under 
State law. 
 
Concerning Sign Regulations, the Commissioners and staff acknowledged that this work is not 
intended to be a comprehensive review of the sign code, but rather with a focus on digital on-
premise signs.  Chair Erickson pointed out that when studying issues relating to billboards in 
2011, the Commission recommended against digital billboards but realized that appropriate 
regulations may be lacking for non-billboard digital signs and that the Commission would like to 
start a conversation about sign code revisions that would address this concern. 
 
The Commissioners voted unanimously to approve the Assessment Report, accept the 2013 
Annual Amendment Package, and move the twelve applications forward for technical analysis. 
 
 

COMMUNICATION ITEMS 
 
Chair Erickson acknowledged receipt of the following information/announcements: 

1. Cancellation of the Planning Commission’s meeting on August 15, 2012. 
2. Planning Commission Tentative Agenda for September 5, 2012. 

 
 

COMMENTS BY LONG-RANGE PLANNING DIVISION 
 
Mr. Boudet provided an update on Medical Cannabis Nuisance Code adoption by the City 
Council on July 31, 2012, and acknowledged the efforts by the Planning Commission and the 
Medical Cannabis Task Force.  Mr. Boudet indicated that the Planning Commission open seat 
for District 5 seemed to be on track to be filled in the near future. 
 
 

COMMENTS BY PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
None. 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting adjourned at 5:35 p.m. 



 



 
 Agenda Item

GB-1 

 

 
City of Tacoma 
Community and Economic Development Department 

 
 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Ian Munce, Acting Manager 

Planning Division 
 
SUBJECT: Transfer of Development Rights (TDR) 
 
DATE: August 29, 2012 
 
 
At the next meeting on September 5, 2012, staff will update the Planning Commission on the 
progress in implementing a TDR program within the City of Tacoma. 
 
The City Council is scheduled in mid-September 2012 to consider: (1) adopting a new Chapter 
1.37 of the Tacoma Municipal Code pertaining to TDR Administrative Provisions; (2) approving 
a resolution that would allow TDR transactions to occur between the City of Tacoma and King 
and Snohomish Counties; and (3) entering into an Interlocal Agreement with Pierce County that 
would allow TDR transactions to occur between the City and the County.  
 
Attached is a packet of information that includes the three documents mentioned above along 
with a memo to the Council’s Economic Development Committee seeking a “do pass” 
recommendation from the Committee to the Council.  Additional TDR related information can be 
accessed at the Planning Division’s website at www.cityoftacoma.org/planning (and click on 
“Transfer of Development Rights (TDR)”). 
 
If you have any questions, please contact me at (253) 573-2478 or imunce@cityoftacoma.org. 
 
 
Attachments (4) 
 
c: Peter Huffman, Assistant Director 

747 Market Street, Room 1036  ▌ Tacoma, Washington 98402-3793  ▌ (253) 591-5200 
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning 

http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning
mailto:imunce@cityoftacoma.org


 



 

 
 
 
City of Tacoma 

 
 
 

    Memorandum

 

1 
 

 
TO:  T.C. Broadnax, City Manager 
FROM: Martha Anderson, Interim Director, Community & Economic Development  
COPY:  Economic Development Committee 
SUBJECT: Implementing a Transfer of Development Rights Program within the City 
DATE:  August 16, 2012 
 
 
 
SUMMARY: 
The purpose of this memorandum is to seek a “do pass” from the Committee on a set of actions that will 
allow Transfer of Development Rights (TDR) transactions to occur within the City of Tacoma. This 
item is being brought forward at this time pursuant to a grant agreement with King County and the 
federal Environmental Protection Agency and a research study (‘Study”) that was conducted as a part of 
this grant agreement; this Study can be found at www.cityoftacoma.org/planning (and under Hot Topics, 
click on “Transfer of Development Rights (TDR)”).  
 
BACKGROUND: 
Zoning and development regulations simply do not provide permanent protections for agricultural lands, 
historic buildings, open space, and affordable housing. Transfers of Development Rights (TDR) is a tool 
that exchanges permanent, recorded conservation easements over important lands and buildings in one 
location(s) (“sending areas”) for increases in density in another location(s) (“receiving areas”). Counties 
and cities authorize the transaction(s) but the market sets the dollar value(s) of the exchanges. 
 
The State Growth Management Act and recent supplemental legislation strongly support the use of 
TDRs. This support is reflected in federal grant funding for TDR programs, regional planning policies, 
the City’s Comprehensive Plan policies, and the City’s Development Regulations for its Commercial 
Mixed-Use Centers and Downtown. More specifically, the City’s participation in a regional TDR 
program qualifies the City to use tax increment financing (TIF) for targeted infrastructure improvements. 
 
It is within this context that the City was awarded a $109,000 grant from the federal Environmental 
Protection Agency to develop and implement a TDR program. This project was introduced to City 
Council at a July 19, 2011 Study Session and a progress report was given to the Economic Development 
Committee (EDC) on February 29, 2012. The EDC expressed particular concern about the economic 
viability of a TDR program in the current economy and the Study focused heavily on this topic. 
 
The Study concludes that: the City’s current zoning incentives for Commercial Mixed-Use Centers and 
Downtown to receive TDRs is of sufficient scale and scope to support a large-scale TDR program; the 
zoning incentives can, with relatively minor adjustments, be adjusted to produce an effective TDR 
program; focusing on the regional TDR program established by State statute will over the medium and 
long term allow the City to qualify for Tax Increment Financing (TIF); and, TDR implementation can 
best be addressed over the short term by Council actions that will facilitate demonstration projects.      
 
ISSUE: 
The fundamental issue at this time is whether this is the right time to set the stage for TDR demonstration 
projects. 
 

http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning


 

 
 
 
City of Tacoma 

 
 
 

    Memorandum

 

2 
 

ALTERNATIVES: 
Action could be postponed until the economy significantly expands and a truly comprehensive set of 
TDR rules and regulation can be developed.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Under the staff recommendation the potential fiscal impacts can be analyzed on a case by case basis 
as each demonstration project is moved forward. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
The Economic Development Committee issue a “do pass” to the City Council on a set of three 
actions that will allow TDR transactions to occur within the City of Tacoma: (1) TDR 
Administrative Provisions (Exhibit A); (2) a Resolution that would allow TDR transactions to occur 
between the City of Tacoma and King County and between the City of Tacoma and Snohomish 
County (Exhibit B); and, (3) an Interlocal Agreement that would allow TDR transactions to occur 
between the City of Tacoma and Pierce County (Exhibit C).   



EXHIBIT A 
 

Draft New Chapter 1.37 of Tacoma Municipal Code: 
Transfer of Development Rights Administrative Code 

 
Suggested outline for Chapter 1.37 TMC: 
 
1.37.010 Purpose 
1.37.020  Definitions 
1.37.030 Sending Areas 
1.37.040 Sending Area Development Limitations 
1.37.050 Sending Area TDR Allocation  
1.37.060 Receiving Area Baselines, Maximum Development and Exchange Ratios 

for Receiving Areas Where Bonus Development Is Allowed By TDR 
1.37.070 Sending Area Process / TDR Certification 
1.37.080 Receiving Area Process 
1.37.090 TDR Manager Responsibilities   
 
1.37.010 Purpose 
The Transfer of Development Rights (TDR) Administrative Code establishes procedures 
for the operation of the City‘s TDR Program. The TDR Program is designed to advance 
the goals of the State’s Growth Management Act by providing a tool to advance the 
City’s conservation goals, historical preservation goals, and built environment goals by 
encouraging the voluntary redirection of development potential away from areas where 
the City wants less or no development potential, called sending areas, toward areas that 
the City has designated as suitable for bonus development potential, called receiving 
areas.  
 
1.37.020 Definitions             
“Baseline development potential” is the maximum development density or intensity 
allowed in TDR receiving areas when property owners choose not to use the bonus 
palette in Title 13 TMC to achieve bonus height. 
 
“Bonus development” is development that exceeds baseline development potential in 
accordance with this chapter and the TDR provisions in Title 13 TMC.  
 
“Receiving areas” are lands designated by this chapter which TDRs can be used in 
compliance with this chapter and Title 13 TMC. 
 
“Sending areas” are lands or structures qualified to generate TDRs for use within 
receiving areas in compliance with this chapter. 
 
“Sending area TDR allocation” means the number of TDRs that a sending area owner is 
issued per acre or lot conserved, or per landmark structure preserved. 
 

 1



“TDR Administrative Procedures” are procedures in Title 1 TMC that implement this 
chapter and the TDR bonus provisions in Title 13 TMC.  
 
“TDR Manager” is an employee of the Tacoma Community and Economic Development 
Department tasked with accomplishing the duties specified by this chapter.    
 
“Transferable development rights (TDR or TDRs)” are whole or fractional units of 
development potential transferred from sending areas that can be used in receiving areas 
to increase development density or intensity in compliance with this chapter.  
 
 
1.37.030 Sending Areas 
The following five categories of land or structures qualify as sending areas:  

 
• Pierce County Farm Land: Farm land designated as Agriculture Resource Land 

(ARL) in unincorporated Pierce County situated in Pierce County’s Puyallup 
Valley (Alderton-McMillin or Mid County Community Planning Areas).   

• Pierce County Forest Land: Forest land designated as Forest Land (FL) situated in 
unincorporated Pierce County. 

•  Resource lands in King County and Snohomish County. 
• Tacoma Habitat: Lands designated Habitat Corridor in the Comprehensive Plan.  
• Tacoma Landmarks: Structures designated as a landmark as identified in the 

Tacoma Register of Historic Places.  
 
Publicly owned lands are not eligible sending areas. Public or privately owned lands that 
are currently encumbered by a perpetual conservation easement or a similar instrument 
are not eligible sending areas. 
 
The City may modify eligible sending areas situated in unincorporated Pierce County or 
unincorporated King County and Snohomish County through an interlocal agreement or 
resolution that references WAC 365-198. In the event that the City modifies eligible 
sending areas with an interlocal agreement or resolution, the terms of the interlocal 
agreement or resolution are controlling.  
 
1.37.040 Sending Area Development Limitations 
With the sole exception of Tacoma Landmarks, property owners who participate in the 
TDR Program shall record a conservation easement on the sending area property that 
achieves the following standards:   
 

• For sending areas situated in unincorporated Pierce County, the sending area must 
be encumbered by a conservation easement approved by Pierce County.  

• For sending areas situated in unincorporated King County, the sending area must 
be encumbered by a conservation easement approved by King County. 

• For Tacoma Habitat, the sending area must be encumbered by a conservation 
easement approved by the City. 

• For Tacoma Landmarks, the sending area must continue to be regulated by the 

 2



landmark development controls and a conservation easement specific to the 
sending area property.  

 
All conservation easements used to achieve development bonuses encumber real property 
pursuant to this chapter and Title 13 TMC must be conveyed in a manner consistent with 
RCW 64.04.130. The grantee of the conservation easement must be the City or a third 
party with the express right to enforce the terms of the conservation easement.  
 
1.37.050 Sending Area TDR Allocation   
Upon recordation of a qualifying easement, TDRs shall be issued to the participating 
sending area property owners as follows: 
 

• For sending areas situated in unincorporated Pierce County, Pierce County will 
establish the sending area allocation ratios for the TDRs that are consistent with 
Pierce County Code 18G.10.040, or any amendment thereof.  

• For sending areas situated in unincorporated King County, King County will 
establish the sending area allocation ratios for the TDRs that are consistent with 
King County Code 21A.37.040, or any amendment thereof. 

• For Tacoma Habitat sending areas:  
o For residential zones: one TDR for each forgone dwelling allowed by the 

property’s current zoning.  
o For nonresidential or multifamily zones: one TDR for each 8,000 square 

feet of potential but foregone floor area allowed by the property’s current 
zoning. 

The calculation above shall take into account the actual number of dwelling units 
or square feet of floor area buildable on the sending area under its current zoning 
restrictions and all other applicable land use and environmental controls (e.g. 
applicable setback or wetland regulations).     

• For Tacoma Landmarks sending areas: the transferable floor area from Tacoma-
designated landmarks shall be the maximum square feet of floor area achievable 
within the area’s zoning and other applicable codes minus the floor area of the 
designated landmark.  

o Designated Tacoma landmarks DCC-Downtown and DCC-City Hall: one 
TDR per 600 square feet of foregone of unused potential floor area 
allowed by the property’s current zoning.  

o Designated Tacoma Landmarks not within DCC-Downtown and DCC-
City Hall: one TDR shall be allocated per 1,200 square feet of foregone 
unused potential floor area allowed by the property’s current zoning.  

 
1.37.060 Receiving Area Baselines, Maximum Development and Exchange Ratios 
for Receiving Areas Where Bonus Development Is Allowed By TDR 
In zones where Title 13 TMC expresses bonus development in terms of height, the 
number of TDRs required to obtain a development bonus shall be calculated using square 
feet of bonus floor area.  
 
As provided in Title 13 TMC, the relevant zoning regulations for each TDR receiving 

 3



area establish the property’s base height limit development potential and the ability to use 
TDR to achieve the property’s maximum development potential. TDR may be used as 
follows to achieve the height bonus as provided in Title 13 TMC:  
  

• For sending areas situated in unincorporated Pierce County: one TDR allows 
5,000 square feet of bonus floor area.  

• For sending areas situated in unincorporated King County: one TDR allows 
10,000 square feet of bonus floor area.  

• For Tacoma Habitat sending areas: one TDR allows 15,000 square feet of bonus 
floor area.  

• For Tacoma Landmarks sending area: one TDR allows 10,000 square feet of 
bonus floor area.  

• In addition to, or as an alternative to acquiring TDRs, a developer can achieve one 
(1) square foot of bonus floor area for every two dollars ($2.00) deposited into the 
City’s open space fund. Revenue accrued for TDRs must be used for TDR 
purchases from In-city and/or Regional TDRs. 

 
Project applicants may use TDRs from one or more sending sites for an individual 
project. If the project results in unused TDRs, the City’s TDR Manager shall, upon the 
project applicant’s request, mark the TDR certificate as having a fractional TDR value. 
Fractional TDRs may be transferred to third parties.  
 
1.37.070 Sending Area Process / TDR Certification 
The following must occur before the City recognizes a TDR for bonus development 
purposes: 
 

• For sending areas situated in unincorporated Pierce County: the TDR must be 
certified pursuant to the Pierce County Code 18G.10.070, or any amendment 
thereof. For the purposes of this TDR program, the City will honor Pierce 
County’s transferrable development credits (TDCs) as TDRs on a one to one 
basis.  

• For sending areas situated in unincorporated King County: the TDR must be 
certified pursuant to the King County Code 21A.37.070, or any amendment 
thereof.  

• For Tacoma Habitat sending areas:  
o Prior to recordation of a conservation easement on an eligible TDR 
sending area, the landowner shall submit an application, application fee and 
proposed, unsigned easement in compliance with the TDR Administrative 
Procedures. This application shall include the documentation required by the 
TDR Administrative Procedures to prove ownership. All lien holders must 
provide written consent to the recordation of the proposed easement. 
o When the TDR Manager and the applicant agree that all requirements 
have been satisfied, the easement shall be signed and recorded. The grantee 
may be the City, another governmental entity, or an authorized conservation 
organization acceptable to the City.  

 4



o Upon recordation of the easement, the TDR Manager shall issue to the 
applicant a specified number of TDRs, each with a serial number. The TDR 
Manager shall document the issuance and retirement of all TDRs as well as all 
transfers of TDR ownership in accordance with the TDR Administrative 
Procedures. TDRs from the same sending area are not required to be 
transferred or retired as a group. In accordance with the TDR Administrative 
Procedures, TDRs may be transferred together or individually. Any person, 
organization or government, including the City, may acquire TDRs and hold 
them for preservation purposes or resale.  

• For Tacoma Landmark sending areas:  
o The owners of designated Tacoma landmarks who choose to participate in 
TDR shall submit an application and application fee. This application shall 
include the documentation required by the TDR Administrative Procedures to 
prove ownership.  
o When the TDR Manager and the applicant agree that all requirements 
have been satisfied, the TDR Manager shall issue to the applicant a specified 
number of TDRs, each with a serial number. The TDR Manager shall 
document the issuance and retirement of all TDRs. TDRs from the same 
sending area are not required to be transferred or retired as a group. In 
accordance with the TDR Administrative Procedures, individual TDRs may 
be transferred together or individually. Any person, organization or 
government, including the City, may acquire TDRs and hold them for 
preservation purposes or resale.  

 
1.37.080 Receiving Area Process 
Developers who intend to exceed baseline development potential in a TDR receiving 
area, as identified in Title 13 TMC, shall acknowledge in development-related 
application materials that they will be required to submit the prescribed number of TDRs 
at the time the developer submits the building permit application. Preliminary application 
approval, where applicable, will indicate the estimated number of TDRs required prior to 
final approval. Applicants are not required to own or control TDRs at the time of 
submitting the application, and TDRs do not impact a project’s ability to vest to current 
regulations. Instead, applicants shall submit the prescribed number of TDRs prior to the 
City’s issuance of building permits.  

 
Developers may obtain TDRs directly from a sending area landowner, from TDR banks, 
or from any other intermediary.  
 
Final building permit approval shall not be granted until the TDR Manager has provided 
written documentation of compliance with TDR requirements. The serial numbers of all 
TDRs shall be recorded on the building permit for all projects using TDRs.   
 
1.37.090 TDR Manager Responsibilities   
• The TDR Manager shall maintain a TDR registry documenting the ownership history 

of all TDRs by serial number from the time they are granted to the sending area 
owner to their retirement in a receiving area development.   

 5



 6

• The TDR Manager may adjust the value of a serially numbered TDR to reflect TDRs 
that have been partially used as contemplated in this chapter.  

• Upon the City’s Council’s request, the TDR Manager shall prepare for City Council 
an annual TDR report documenting all TDRs issued, transferred and retired. The 
report may include recommendations on amendments that could improve the 
effectiveness of the TDR program. If necessary, the TDR Manager may recommend 
establishing limits on the number of TDRs from any of the sending area categories or 
other mechanisms designed to maximize achievement of City goals including but not 
limited to compliance with the requirements of a TDR-based Tax Increment 
Financing District (as authorized in chapter 39.108 RCW).  

• The TDR Manager shall recommend adjustments in 1.37.060 as market conditions 
change in a significant manner. 



EXHIBIT B 
 

Draft Resolution Allowing TDR Transactions between City of Tacoma  
and King and Snohomish Counties 

 
Req. # ___ 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 
 
BY REQUEST OF ______________________________________.  
 
A RESOLUTION adopting by reference the Washington State Department of Commerce 
interlocal terms and conditions for transferring development rights from county 
designated sending areas to city designated receiving areas consistent with the regional 
transfer of development rights program. 
 
WHEREAS the City of Tacoma (“City”) supports farm and forest conservation efforts in 
Washington State; 
 
WHEREAS the City seeks to work cooperatively with King County, Pierce County, and 
Snohomish County (“Counties”) to encourage the conservation of these working lands;  
 
WHEREAS the transfer of development rights (“TDR”) is one tool available to 
Washington communities to encourage the conservation of working agricultural and 
forest land while also promoting higher-density, infill development within incorporated 
cities, consistent with the Washington State Growth Management Act (“GMA”), Chapter 
36.70A RCW, and as provided in the Regional Transfer of Development Rights Program, 
Chapter 43.362 RCW (“Regional TDR Program”);  
 
WHEREAS the Washington State Legislature directed the Washington State Department 
of Commerce to establish a Regional TDR Program in Central Puget Sound; 
 
WHEREAS to achieve City goals, including, but not limited to, the City’s Climate 
Action Plan, it is important to conserve working agricultural and forest land, and land 
whose conservation also meets other state and regionally adopted priorities;  
 
WHEREAS the City has adopted an ordinance establishing a TDR program in the 
Tacoma Municipal Code in compliance with the GMA and the Regional TDR Program;  
 
WHEREAS RCW 43.362.050 authorizes cities in central Puget Sound to adopt by 
reference interlocal agreement terms and conditions adopted by the Washington State 
Department of Commerce in Chapter 365-198 WAC in lieu of an interlocal agreement to 
transfer development rights from a county situated in central Puget Sound to a city 
situated in central Puget Sound; and  
  



WHEREAS the City anticipates that the King County and Snohomish County may enact 
similar resolutions to further the Regional TDR Program, but that Pierce County desires 
to have an interlocal agreement with the City. 
 
 
 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TACOMA: 
 
Section 1.  The City supports conservation through the transfer of development rights 
from farm and forest lands designated by the Counties under their respective TDR 
programs consistent with the GMA and as provided in the Regional TDR Program.  
 
Section 2.  The City hereby adopts by reference the interlocal terms and conditions as set 
forth in WAC 365-198-040 and 060.  For the purposes of the interlocal terms and 
conditions, the Tacoma Municipal Code, not WAC 365-198-030, defines “sending area” 
and “receiving area.”  
 
Section 3.  The City Council directs the City Manager to cooperate with representatives 
from the Counties to accomplish the policies set forth this resolution, in addition to 
promoting the development and overall effectiveness of the City’s TDR program.    
 
Section 4.  The terms of this resolution shall become effective on the date that either  
King or Snohomish counties execute similar TDR resolutions.  
 
Adopted ___________________ 
 
Attest: 
City Clerk 
 
Approved as to form: 
City Attorney             

 
 



EXHIBIT C 
 

AN AGREEMENT IMPLEMENTING 
A TRANSFER OF DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS PROGRAM 

BETWEEN 
PIERCE COUNTY AND CITY OF TACOMA 

 
THIS INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT is entered into this day by and between 
PIERCE COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington (herein referred 
to as " COUNTY") and City of Tacoma, a municipal corporation of the State of 
Washington (herein referred to as "CITY").   
 
RECITALS 
 
1.WHEREAS, the Washington State Growth Management Act (GMA),  Chapter 36.70A 
Revised Code of Washington (RCW), directs development to urban areas, discourages 
inappropriate conversion of undeveloped rural land into sprawling, low-density 
development, and encourages the conservation of productive forest lands and productive 
agricultural lands and the protection of habitat lands; and 
 
2.WHEREAS, the transfer of development rights (TDR) is one tool available to 
Washington communities to encourage the preservation of productive agricultural and 
forest lands and the protection of habitat lands while also promoting higher density, infill 
development within incorporated cities, consistent with the  GMA and as provided in the 
Regional Transfer of Development Rights Program, Chapter 43.362 RCW; and 
 
3.WHEREAS, the Washington State Legislature recognizes the importance of a regional 
transfer of development rights program; and 
 
4.WHEREAS, the GMA requires counties to adopt countywide planning policies in 
cooperation with cities; and 
 
5.WHEREAS, the Pierce County Countywide Planning Policies direct jurisdictions in 
Pierce County to implement programs and regulations to protect and maintain the rural 
character of rural, farm and forest lands, and to direct growth to cities and urban centers; 
and 
 
6.WHEREAS, the COUNTY has developed a TDR program which, subject to adoption 
of an interlocal agreement, authorizes cities to receive development rights transferred 
from unincorporated rural and resource lands; and 
 
7. WHEREAS, the COUNTY has a TDR bank that acquires development rights from 
high priority conservation lands for purchase within cities; and the TDR bank can play an 
important role to facilitate the City-County TDR market and is an integral part of the 
success of the Joint Program. 
 



8.WHEREAS, the rural and resource lands in Pierce County are recognized as containing 
important citywide, countywide and regional public benefits such as forestry, open space, 
wildlife habitat, agricultural resources, and salmon habitat; and 
 
9.WHEREAS, the CITY has identified rural and resource lands in Pierce County as one 
of its preservation priorities; and 
 
10.WHEREAS, the CITY’s development regulations identify certain areas within the 
Tacoma city limits to actively consider as potential receiving sites for development rights 
from Pierce County, as a means to achieve conservation and preservation of resource and 
rural lands and to direct growth to the CITY; and 
 
11.WHEREAS, the CITY’S Downtown and Mixed-Use Centers call for density 
incentives for residential and commercial development, and seek to increase public 
amenities to improve the pedestrian, park and transit oriented development pattern in 
these areas; and  
 
12.WHEREAS, the CITY and the COUNTY share an interest in creating an effective, 
cooperative development rights transfer system to achieve the goals of the GMA, the 
Pierce County Countywide Planning Policies, and the City of Tacoma and the Pierce 
County Comprehensive Plans; and 
 
13.WHEREAS, the COUNTY and the CITY are authorized, pursuant to Article XI of the 
Washington State Constitution, Chapter 39.34 RCW and RCW 43.362.050 to enter into a 
governmental cooperation agreement to accomplish these shared goals;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and conditions contained herein, it is 
mutually agreed by and between the COUNTY and CITY as follows: 
 
SECTION I. PURPOSE.  
 Purpose of this Interlocal Agreement is to provide for the transfer of development rights 
from Pierce County to the City of Tacoma and to memorialize the agreement between the 
parties relating to a Joint Program (hereafter the “Joint Program”) for the transfer of 
development rights from the Pierce County TDR Bank to the City; or from privately 
owned unincorporated Pierce County rural and resource lands as identified on Exhibit A, 
attached hereto and made a part of this Agreement, into the City of Tacoma according to 
the provisions described below.  
 
SECTION II.  CITY OBLIGATIONS 
A. The CITY has adopted Ordinance No. xxxxx to implement its Transfer of 
Development Rights Program. The City’s TDR Program provides incentives to protect 
selected sending site properties while authorizing additional residential density, 
commercial square footage, and other uses at selected receiving sites inside the city 
limits.  The TDR implementation program is codified in Chapter 1.37 Tacoma Municipal 
Code. 
 



B.  The CITY has designated Downtown and certain Mixed-Use Centers as receiving 
areas within which transferable development rights credits may be used; depicted in 
Exhibit B. 
 
C.  The CITY has adopted a receiving area ratio or ratios for the transferable 
development rights or development rights credits to be received.  
 
D. The CITY has identified the following County “Sending Sites” described below and 
depicted in Exhibit A, as priorities for the transfer of development rights to the CITY: 
  

 Pierce County Farm Land: Farm land designated as Agricultural Resource Land 
(ARL) in unincorporated Pierce County situated in Pierce County’s Puyallup Valley 
(Alderton-McMillin or Mid County Community Planning Areas). 

 
 E.  The provisions of the CITY’S TDR ordinance are consistent with the intent and 
purposes of the Joint Program. The CITY shall continue to permit the use of development 
rights at receiving sites within the CITY limits during the term of this Agreement from 
priority sending sites identified in Exhibit A unless other mutually agreeable sending sites 
are approved by the CITY. . 
 
F.  The CITY agrees that development rights can be transferred from the Pierce County 
TDR Bank to the CITY or from privately owned unincorporated Pierce County rural and 
resource lands.  All transfers to the CITY shall come from rural and resource lands 
depicted on Exhibit A. 
 
G.  The CITY shall notify the COUNTY in writing when it has approved the use of 
development rights that were purchased from private parties in a specific project.  Upon 
approved use of COUNTY development rights on a specific receiving site within the 
CITY, the CITY shall ensure that the receiving site owner relinquishes the certificates to 
the COUNTY in conformance with the Chapter 18G.10 Pierce County Code (PCC) prior 
to issuing final building permits on the receiving site. 
 
H.  The CITY agrees to work in good faith with the COUNTY, private developers, and 
other receiving site landowners for the success of this Agreement.  
 
SECTION III.  COUNTY OBLIGATIONS  
A.  The COUNTY adopted policies, regulations, and administrative procedures under 
Chapter 18G.10 PCC to implement the COUNTY Transfer and Purchase of Development 
Rights Program, which promotes and facilitates the purchase and sale of development 
rights. The COUNTY Program’s adopted policies and regulations are also consistent with 
the Joint Program.   
 
B.  The COUNTY will utilize Title 18G PCC to identify, qualify and certify sending sites 
for use by the CITY from sites represented in accordance with Exhibit A.  
 



C.  The COUNTY acknowledges the provisions of the CITY’S TDR implementation 
Ordinance are consistent with the intent and purposes of the Joint Program and this 
Interlocal Agreement. 
 
SECTION IV.  JOINT DEMONSTRATION PROJECT   
The COUNTY agrees to work in good faith with the CITY, private developers, and 
designated sending site landowners for the success of this Agreement.  
  
SECTION V.  DURATION 
A.  Duration. This Agreement shall become effective on the date it is last signed by all 
parties and shall continue for a period of five (5). 
 
B.  Extension. Pursuant to a mutual written agreement between the COUNTY Executive 
and CITY Mayor, this Agreement may be extended for a mutually agreed upon period 
from the effective date of the extension. To extend the Agreement, the CITY or the 
COUNTY shall make a written request to the other not less than sixty (60) days prior to 
the end of this Agreement. The request shall specify the proposed term of the extension. 
The parties must agree to the extension in writing by the termination date or the 
agreement will lapse. 
 
SECTION VI.  ADMINISTRATION OF THE AGREEMENT.   
This Agreement shall be administered for the CITY by City Manager or his/her designee 
and for the COUNTY by the County Executive, or his/her designee. 
 
SECTION VII.  INDEMNIFICATION AND DEFENSE.   
A.  The County shall defend, indemnify, and save harmless the CITY , its officers, 
employees, and agents from any and all costs, claims, judgments, or awards of damages, 
resulting from the acts or omissions of the COUNTY, its officers, employees, or agents 
associated with this Agreement.  In executing this Agreement, the COUNTY does not 
assume liability or responsibility for or in any way release the CITY from any liability or 
responsibility which arises in whole or in part from the existence or effect of CITY 
ordinances, rules, regulations, resolutions, customs, policies, or practices.  If any cause, 
claim, suit, action or administrative proceeding is commenced in which the enforceability 
and/or validity of any such CITY ordinance, rule, regulation, resolution, custom, policy 
or practice is at issue, the CITY shall defend the same at its sole expense, and if judgment 
is entered or damages are awarded against the CITY, the COUNTY, or both, the CITY 
shall satisfy the same, including all chargeable costs and attorney's service charges. 
 
B.  The CITY shall defend, indemnify, and save harmless the COUNTY, its officers, 
employees and agents from any and all costs, claims, judgments, or awards of damages, 
resulting from the acts or omissions of the CITY, its officers, employees or agents 
associated with this Agreement.  In executing this Agreement, the CITY does not assume 
liability or responsibility for or in any way release the COUNTY from any liability or 
responsibility which arises in whole or in part from the existence or effect of COUNTY 
ordinances, rules, regulations, resolutions, customs, policies, or practices.  If any cause, 
claim, suit, action, or administrative proceeding is commenced in which the 



enforceability and/or validity of any such COUNTY ordinance, rule, regulation, 
resolution, custom, policy, or practice is at issue, the COUNTY shall defend the same at 
its sole expense, and if judgment is entered or damages are awarded against the 
COUNTY, the CITY, or both, the COUNTY shall satisfy the same, including all 
chargeable costs and attorney's service charges. 
 
SECTION VIII.  ASSIGNMENT.  Neither the COUNTY nor the CITY shall have the 
right to transfer or assign, in whole or in part, any or all of its obligations and rights 
hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party. 
 
SECTION IX.  INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  Both the CITY and the COUNTY 
are, and shall at all times be deemed to be, an independent contractor. Nothing herein 
contained shall be construed as creating the relationship of employer and employee, or 
principal and agent, between the CITY and the COUNTY or any of the CITY and 
COUNTY's agents or employees.  The CITY and the COUNTY shall each retain all its 
authority for rendition of services, standards of performance, control of personnel, and 
other matters incident to the performance of services pursuant to this Agreement.   
 
SECTION X. NO THIRD PARTIES.  This Agreement is made and entered into for the 
sole protection and benefit of the parties hereto. No other person or entity shall have any 
right of action or interest in this Agreement based upon any provision set forth herein. 
 
SECTION XI.  WAIVER.  No waiver by either party of any term or condition of this 
Agreement shall be deemed or construed to constitute a waiver of any other term or 
condition or of any subsequent breach, whether of the same or a different provision of 
this Agreement. 
 
SECTION XII.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement contains all of the 
Agreements of the Parties with respect to any matter covered or mentioned in this 
Agreement and no prior agreements shall be effective for any purpose.  It is the complete 
expression of the terms hereof and any oral representation or understanding not 
incorporated herein is excluded. 
 
SECTION XIII.  AMENDMENT.  Provisions within this Agreement may be amended 
with the mutual consent of the parties hereto.  No additions to, or alteration of, the terms 
of this Agreement shall be valid unless made in writing, formally approved, and executed 
by duly authorized agents of both parties.  
 
SECTION XIV.  NOTICES.   Any notice, approval or communication that either party is 
required to send under this Interlocal Agreement must be given in writing to the 
following addresses:   

 
To City of Tacoma:   
 
 
To Pierce County:   



 
 

 
or to such other address as either party designates by written notice to the other. 
 
SECTION XVI.  SEVERABILITY.  If any of the provisions contained in this 
Agreement are held illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the remaining provisions shall 
remain in full force and effect. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHERE OF, the parties have caused this Interlocal Agreement to 
be executed on this               day of                         , 20    . 
 
 
__________________________________ 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
 

 

 
P I E R C E   C O U N T Y 
 
 
______________________________________ 
DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR  Date 
 
 
________________________________________
DEP. PROSECUTING ATTORNEY Date 
(as to legal form only) 
 
 
______________________________________ 
BUDGET AND FINANCE  Date 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
COUNTY EXECUTIVE  Date 
(if over $250,000) 

 



Tacoma

Puyallup

Fife

Sumner

Edgewood

Orting

Bonney Lake

Milton
AuburnPacific

Puyallup River

W
hit e River

Sw
an

 Cree
k

Wa
pa

to 
Cr

eek

Muck
 Creek

Rody
 Creek

Clover Creek

Carbon River

Clarks Creek

Di
ru 

Cr
eek

Fennel Creek

Fox Creek

Roosevelt Ditch

Clear Creek

Salmon Creek

Horsehaven Creek

Hyl e
bo

s C
ree

k

Fiske Creek

Ca
ny

on
 Cr

eek

South Creek

Kapowsin 
Cree

k

Dieringer Flume

W
est

 H
yle

bo
s C

ree
k

Coplar Creek

North Fork Clover Creek

Simons Creek

Voig
ht Creek

Canyonfalls Creek

Wo
od

lan
d C

ree
k

Debra Jane C reek

Sq
ua

lly
 Cr

eek

North Fork Clover Creek Tributary 1

Bonney Lake Outflow

East Fork Clear C reek

King
s C

ree
k

Clov
er C

reek Tributary Eight

North Fork Clover Creek Tributary 2

North Fo rk Clover Creek Tributary 4

Clover Creek Tributary Three

Wapato Creek

South Creek

Ro
ose

ve
lt D

itc
h

W
oo

dla
nd 

Cr
eek

East Fork Clear Creek

§̈¦5

§̈¦5

?u@167

?u@512

?u@509

?u@410

?u@167

?u@512

?u@509

?u@161

?u@7

?u@162

?u@167

?u@99

?u@410

?u@161

Mid-County
Community Plan

Department of Planning and Land Services

µ

PIERCE COUNTY, WASHINGTON

Resource Land

0 20 4010
MILES

Map Disclaimer: The map features are approximate and are
intended only to provide an indication of said feature.
Additional areas that have not been mapped may be present.
This is not a survey.  The County assumes no liability for
variations ascertained by actual survey.  ALL DATA IS
EXPRESSLY PROVIDED ‘AS IS’ AND ‘WITH ALL
FAULTS’.  The County makes no warranty of fitness for a
particular purpose.

Community_Plans_Dissolve

Alderton-McMillin Community Plan Area

Hydro - Surface Boundaries

Municipal Area

Zoning
Agricultural Resource Land (ARL)
Designated Forest Land

Map Document: H:\mxd\staff_request\dmarcus_jones\tcoma_tdr\ald_mcmillian_mid_county_combo.mxd

Plot Date: 8/21/2012

                     
    Pierce County Sending Site Areas
        

Exhibit A
         Agricultural Resource Land
Alderton McMillin Community Plan Area

~ ~ ~



 



 

 
 
 
City of Tacoma 
Community and Economic Development Department 

 

747 Market Street, Room 1036  ▌ Tacoma, Washington 98402-3793  ▌ (253) 591-5365 
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning 

Agenda Item
GB-2 

 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Brian Boudet, Urban Planner, Long-Range Planning Division 
 
SUBJECT: MLK Subarea Plan – Status Update 
 
DATE: August 30, 2012 
 
 
At the Planning Commission’s next meeting staff will provide an update on the MLK Subarea 
Plan/EIS project.  This will include an overview of the project schedule, community outreach 
done to date, comments received, some of the redevelopment strategies being considered, 
associated projects, and the next steps. 
 
As the Commission is aware, this area is within the Downtown Regional Growth Center and is 
intended to accommodate a significant share of Tacoma’s future growth by encouraging a more 
intense level of development that is well-served by transportation options, housing choices, 
employment opportunities, and a mix of shops, services and public spaces.  This grant-
supported subarea planning project is designed to build on recent and ongoing work and 
establish a more detailed growth and community development plan that encourages this type of 
economic revitalization, growth, and redevelopment, along with enhanced coordination and 
partnerships for sustained implementation.  The project also include the preparation of an 
Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) that will provide upfront environmental review on an 
area-wide basis, relieving subsequent investors from conducting expensive and often less-
effective environmental analysis on a project-by-project basis. 
 
Attached for your information are various documents associated with the project, including an 
overview of the project, the current schedule, draft vision statement, information about potential 
catalytic sites within the district, and information about some of the related intern projects 
addressing the area’s history, visioning work with McCarver Elementary, and assessing 
community health issues. 
 
Additional information about this project, including the community input from the scoping 
process, focus groups, and community surveys, is available on the project web page – 
www.cityoftacoma.org/MLKPlan. 
 
If you have any questions please contact me at (253) 573-2389 or bboudet@cityoftacoma.org. 
 
 
Attachments (8) 
 
c. Peter Huffman, Assistant Director 

http://www.cityoftacoma.org/MLKPlan
mailto:bboudet@cityoftacoma.org


 



Project Background
The City of Tacoma, in partnership with community stakeholders, 
is embarking on an exciting planning process that will build on 
existing community plans and strategies to prepare the Martin 
Luther King Jr. (MLK) Neighborhood for future growth and de-
velopment. Located in the Downtown Tacoma Regional Growth 
Center, the MLK Neighborhood is one of the City’s 17 Mixed-Use 
Centers and is well positioned for economic revitalization, growth 
and redevelopment.

The City of Tacoma is required by the Puget Sound Regional 
Council to plan for 60,000 new jobs and 70,000 additional 
people in Tacoma by 2030. The Mixed-Use Centers are at the 
heart of the City’s growth strategy. They are intended to accom-
modate a significant share of Tacoma’s future growth by encour-
aging a more intense level of development that is well-served by 
transportation options, housing choices, employment opportuni-
ties, and a mix of shops, services and public spaces. They are 
also identified as receiving areas for Transfer of Development 
Rights (TDR).

To plan for this growth the City of Tacoma has received a 
$100,000 grant from the Environmental Protection Agency 
through the State Department of Commerce to develop a Sub-
area Plan and area-wide planned action Environmental Impact 
Statement (EIS).

What Will the Plan Accomplish?
Development of the MLK Subarea Plan and Environmental 
Impact Statement will engage the community to: 

• Analyze the MLK Mixed-Use Center at the maximum 
build-out level outlined in the Comprehensive Plan and 
Zoning Code

• Strategically plan for growth and revitalization of this district 
based on community priorities

• Identify and prioritize necessary utility improvements (e.g.: 
water, sewer, storm water, power, telecommunications)

• Plan for parks, trails and open space

• Prioritize transportation investments including light rail, 
transit, parking, pedestrian and bike improvements

• Develop potential funding strategies

• Consider opportunities for Transfer of Development 
Rights incentives

• Pre-approve new development space through an area-wide 
environmental review process    

Planning the Future of 

 MLK District
For more information: 
Visit the project website: www.cityoftacoma.org/MLKPlan
Contact the Project Lead: Brian Boudet, (253) 573-2389, bboudet@cityoftacoma.org

S 29th St

S 27th St

S 24th St

S ‘D’ St

S 6TH ST

S 9TH ST

E ‘C’ St

PA
CIFIC A

V
ES YA

KIM
A

 A
VE

M
A

RTIN
 LU

TH
ER KIN

G
 JR W

A
Y

Com
m

erce St

Deli
 St

‘A’ St

S 17TH ST

S 15TH ST

DIVISION AVE

Wright 
Park

MLK
District

MLK Study Area

MLK Subarea Plan



2011 2012 2013

N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A

Scoping 
Period

Draft Subarea Plan and 
Draft EIS

Review by 
Planning 

Commission

Review and 
Approval by 
City Council

Implementation

Project Schedule

Community Meeting
January 5

Scoping Meeting
February 9

Workshop
March 22 Open House

May 24 Open House
August 16

Open House
October 25

Resident Surveys
October City Hearings

January‐March 2013

Scoping Period
Preliminary 
Goals and 
Policies

Draft Subarea Plan and Draft 
EIS

Final Subarea 
Plan, EIS, and 

Policies



Draft Vision Statement
Developed by the MLK Subarea Plan Working Group

RESTORE THE MLK DISTRICT AS A PLACE WHERE PEOPLE LIVE, WORK, AND PLAY.  SPECIFICALLY, 
PLAN TO REALIZE THE FOLLOWING KEY ELEMENTS:

A BRAND that establishes a positive MLK image and identity that reflects the community’s past and 
potential.

DIVERSE POPULATIONS including employment, housing, and community services to support all racial, ethnic, 
and religious populations.

DIVERSE AGES providing housing and community services to support of all age groups including youth, young 
adults, family starters, middle families, empty nesters, and seniors.

DIVERSE HOUSEHOLDS providing housing and community services to support all household types including p g g y pp yp g
single individuals, couples, single‐headed families, and nuclear family households.

MIXED‐INCOMEwith employment and housing opportunities to support of all income levels.

MIXED‐USE with sufficient retail, commercial, services, offices, and other land uses to support the MLK 
population.

SUSTAINABLE i th i t th i t f h ti iti i d tiSUSTAINABLE, greening the impacts on the environment from human activities using, and creating a 
community that is fiscally and economically self‐sufficient.

RESPECTFUL, preserving MLK history, landmarks, and culture as the community continues to develop and 
evolve.

AN URBAN FORM that blends the various MLK elements including hospitals with single family residences, 
and major with minor transportation corridors such that MLK provides an identifiable and functional form toand major with minor transportation corridors such that MLK provides an identifiable and functional form to 
community residents and the rest of the City.

HUMAN‐SCALED, such that new infill urban development projects produces mass and form that respects 
existing developments and a human scale.

PUBLIC SPACES incorporating public and privately‐accessible open spaces, parks, plazas, special event staging 
areas, and other features where the community may congregate., y y g g

QUALITY ARCHITECTURE that respects MLK historical buildings and features, a pedestrian scale, and the vistas 
and viewpoints within MLK and with the Downtown and other physical features.

QUALITY STREETSCAPE incorporating high quality walkways, street trees, artworks, signage, furnishings, and 
other improvements that appropriate to and unique of MLK.

MULTIMODAL ti ill th t t lki biki d t it f t t ti iMULTIMODAL, creating a village that promotes walking, biking, and transit as a means of transportation in 
addition to vehicular.

CONNECTED using all transportation modes to access MLK with the Downtown, South Downtown, and rest of 
Tacoma.



 



MLK Intern Project – McCarver Elementary Charettes 

 
Successful solutions may be grounded in empathy, understanding, and compassion for and 
from all stakeholders involved.  Ultimately there is a desire within the City of Tacoma for 
informed, positive, citizen participation that is representative of all perspectives.  Children 
possess useful and important knowledge that no one else in the community can provide 
(Chawla 2002).  As opportunities for children to participation in the redevelopment of their 
communities increase, so too will the positive contributions of all stakeholders. 
 
In an effort to continue and grow partnerships with the community, the City of Tacoma has 
reached out to the children of McCarver Elementary for their input on, and vision for, the 
future of the Martin Luther King Jr. Way area.  The children of McCarver are quickly gaining a 
reputation as highly motivated and influential members of the community.  This is highlighted 
through such efforts as the Zina Linnik Project, which raised 3.5 million dollars for a full 
renovation of McCarver Park, as well as a new playground and spray‐ground at Wright Park. 
 
We asked the students what 
they liked about their 
neighborhood and community 
and what they would do to 
improve the MLK/Hilltop Area.  
Responses ranged from daily 
ice‐cream trucks to 
transportation improvements 
(including tele‐porters!), so 
they could get to Wright Park 
and the homes of relatives.  
The majority of responses 
focused heavily on wanting to 
feel safe when playing.  
 
The Outreach participatory activities included: 

• Five separate scoping and data gathering activities with students, kindergarten through 
4th grade, throughout May 2012. 

• A visioning charette with 25 4th and 5th graders in the Peace Makers Club on May 25th, 
building 3‐D models of potential redevelopment ideas for the former Browne’s Star Grill 
catalyst site. 

• A design activity on July 18th, which included a walking tour of the surrounding area. 



• A visioning charettes on August 6th with 20 students, 2nd grade through junior high, 
where participants focused on ideal bike boulevard intersections.  Multiple planners, 
members of the MLK Working Group, and community were present. 

• An activity where the same students drew a particular feature that might help facilitate 
the creation of a bike boulevard.  They were rewarded with ice cream for their work. 

 
Children, like all people, are at risk of 
marginalization if they do not have a voice or a 
forum to communicate their stake in the built 
environment. They can be particularly vulnerable 
due to their lack of resources monetarily, their 
easily restricted autonomy, and the perception 
that their inclusion in the public realm is less 
justified.  In order to engage children in the 
process you must engage those that children are 
directly accountable to.  This primarily includes 
schools and parents.  The charette, as a planning 
tool, is particularly suited to children as it allows 
for engaging and developmentally appropriate 
expressions of their interests and desires for the 
urban realm. 
 
While these charettes were initiated for ideas 
rather than action, an implementation charette in 
the future could involve all of the stakeholders 
that usually play a role in plan approval, as well as 
children.  Integrating a wide selection of 
participants can help broaden the issue and can 
increase efficiency.  Young People want to be 
included in the work of adults but they want to be 
treated with respect (Gleeson and Sipe 2006). 
 



In an effort to continue and grow partnerships with the commu-
nity, the City of Tacoma has reached out to the children of 
McCarver Elementary for their input on, and vision for, the future 
of the Martin Luther King Jr. Way area.  The children of McCarver 
are quickly gaining a reputation as highly motivated and influen-
tial members of the community.  This is highlighted through such 
efforts as the Zina Linnik Project which raised 3.5 million dollars 
for a full renovation of McCarver Park as well as a new play-
ground and spray-ground at Wright Park. 

We asked the students what they liked about their neighborhood 
and community and what they would do to improve the MLK/ 
Hilltop Area.  Responses ranged from daily ice-cream trucks to 
transportation improvements (including tele-porters!), so they 
could get to Wright Park and the homes of relatives.  The majority 
of responses focused heavily on wanting to feel safe when playing.  

Please take a moment to enjoy the efforts of these McCarver 
students who have been participating in an ongoing project with 
the City of Tacoma and our community partners as we look to-
wards the future of the MLK Subarea and Hilltop community. 

Special Thanks to Mrs. R-G, Mr. Tucker, Mrs. Smith, Mrs. Pigott, Mrs. 
Bruce, Mrs.Miller and all of the McCarver students that helped make this 
special project possible.  







 



MLK Intern Project – MLK Oral History 
 
 
Collecting stories from people provides an outlet for citizen participation in shaping the future 
through communicating their memory of the past. “While the story is usually fragmented,” 
Portelli, (1997) argues, “what is spoken has probably never been told in that format before.” In 
addition, interview format can also enhance authority and self‐awareness of narrator (Portelli 
1997).” In the authority and self reflection of those that were interviewed a consistent them of 
the MLK/Hilltop being a once vibrant area emerged. There were also many remarks made 
communicating the importance of reconciling retail and residence in preserving the character of 
the community. St. Joe’s was consistently referred to as an important landmark both physically 
and experientially in the lives of those who live there. Membership in various organizations as 
well as preservation of the buildings where those groups met were also important themes. 
 
Below are brief backgrounds of some of those who have helped to shape the MLK area: 
 
Gail Cameron – Born at St. Joseph’s Hospital in 1947, she started at St. 
Leo’s and then transferred to McCarver when she missed her family 
and friends. Her experience here up on the Hill was exciting growing 
up. It was safe, the environment was safe. If you got in trouble your 
momma knew about it before you got home because everyone knew 
everyone. 
 
I’ve seen a lot of changes on MLK, there used to be a barber shop, a 
laundry mat and taverns where my father used to hang out. Rev. Crittendon’s body shop was 
on the corner. There was a candy shop and it was the most popular place in town and I used to 
get credit for candy, I can’t remember her name but the owner was the sweetest lady and she 
would let us build up to a dollar. I remember having block parties here. I remember at 
McCarver we used to have after‐school dances and it was called Teen Time. We used to have 
talent shows at McCarver after school… it was an exciting time a fun time. I’ve seen the changes 
at St. Joseph’s Hospital. I was born there. My home church was on the corner of 17th and I and I 
watched it move from 17th to over on the east side. The church is 128 years old here in Tacoma. 
I still have family that live here on J Street and MLK, we have a long family history up here on 
the hill. I see a lot of good changes. I see a lot of people not afraid to come out and sit on their 
porch, sitting and barbequing. I see people coming out and walking again. They can feel safe 
here up on the hill. I have 140 family member here in Tacoma, it’s a beautiful place, and it’s still 
a place to raise your family regardless of what people say. 
 
Ivory Crittendon – Moved to Tacoma in 1952 after returning from 
the Korean War. In 1959 he started in the hilltop, and spent most 
of his time on 23rd and K Street with the DiPolita Body Shop. He 
was the only Italian at that time that had a body shop. And so they 
worked as partners for 5 years until he got his own body shop in 
1963. In that time he found a lot of fatherless children who were 

1 



drug addicts and gang members and drug dealers. He was able to provide for and adopt many 
of them. He continues to invest in the area through the properties he owns, the church he 
pastors, and the school he organizes. Many current neighbors came because of the school, but 
what they found out was that this is a beautiful neighborhood. 
 
The spirit is right. I would like to see Martin Luther King Street dressed up just like Downtown, 
and those streets. You cannot help people when you’ve got them in a depressed area. 
 
Greg Tanbara – Grew up around the Hilltop area where his father had a 
medical practice. He was born in 1953 and his mother grew up in Tacoma, 
near Downtown on 17th and Fawcett. 
 
My earliest memories are of the Hilltop. My father started his practice in 
1955 and he used to have an office in what used to be called The Tacoma 
Medical Center, which was a little group of brick buildings between 11th & 

12th and L & M Streets. When he was young he always thought of it as a second place where he 
could go and see familiar faces and interesting stuff like emergency rooms and hardware stores. 
There was a lot of retail going on up here, it was like the old main streets with narrow, deep 
storefronts one after another with neon signs and restaurants and small café’s and bars. I think 
the neat parts of that community outweigh the stigma that the 80’s left, with the crips and 
bloods up there. It’s one of his favorite places to do business. 
 
There’s a lot of hope and there’s a good spirit in the area. 
 
Morris McCollum – Moved to Tacoma in 1958 to start a retail clothing store. He’s 
been up here 35 years at 4 different locations. I was back east and then had an 
opportunity to come out here with a gentleman who had been out here before. I 
bought the K Street Department Store at 1124 MLK, which is where I am today – 
what goes around comes around. But when I came out here and bought this 
department store at this location K Street was a very vibrant neighborhood, for 7 
or 8 blocks there wasn’t a hole in the wall that wasn’t retail. There was a theater, 
grocery stores, electric shops, furniture stores, restaurants. It was composed of a 
lot of retail businesses, in fact, it was the second largest retail center in the City of 
Tacoma.  
 
At one time the area was the worst in crime now it’s the best. K Street was a very vibrant 
neighborhood and business district and had a big medical center behind here. St. Joe’s and 
Tacoma General have increased their footprint and are still building. We’re going to have a 
community health building across the street here as part of the medical corridor. We have a lot 
of beautiful homes here. There are many vibrant neighborhoods and they take care of their 
places. So many still think that it’s a bad area up here, but in reality it’s not. 
 
   

2 



Laura Jensen – Laura Jensen was born at Tacoma General Hospital, 
and her church life and family’s active membership in the Valhalla Hall 
brought her frequently to the MLK area. The Valhalla Hall was one of 
the center points for the Scandinavian community in Tacoma, and 
especially on Hilltop. Located at 1216 Martin Luther King Jr Way, then 
known as K Street, Valhalla Hall served as a gathering place and venue 
for social events. One of the many groups that met there was the 
Order of Runeberg, which was founded in 1920 in Wisconsin to celebrate Swedish‐Finnish 
culture and traditions. Laura’s family, with strong connections to Finland on her grandmother’s 
side, were members of the Local Order of Runeberg and performed in the choir. 
 
The Valhalla Hall also served as a venue where social gatherings and events would take place. 
Normanna Hall was also an important venue for both the Scandinavian Community and other 
communities on the Hilltop. Dances were popular at Valhalla Hall and Laura Jensen’s mother 
was a pianist in the Gord Family Orchestra, which played at the hall through the depression. In 
1934 she became the choir leader for the Order of Runeberg. The Gord Family Orchestra played 
a mix of Scandinavian and popular dance band music. While they were playing, they would 
have signs by the stage to tell the audience what the next dance would be, such as the Foxtrot. 
 
Her mother was also the piano accompanist during a choir tour in 1930 to Finland organized by 
Leonard Svedberg, a prominent member of the Scandinavian community of Tacoma.  A 
delegation of choir members from the Northwest traveled to the western coast of Finland 
where they were well received. Unfortunately, they would be prevented from returning to 
Scandinavia again until many years after World War II. 
 
Laura’s father was also a long time member of the Hilltop community, serving as a pharmacist 
at the Economy Drug Store on MLK Way for nearly a decade. She recalled him taking the bus to 
work and how this made a lasting impression. For 22 years, she has walked, biked, or bused 
everywhere she wants to go. Using alternative transportation and bypassing car ownership has 
served as inspiration for her art. Comparing the bus system now to then, she spoke of the 
improvements in accessibility and ease of use, including the addition of bike racks, kneeling 
buses, and transit centers. On this last topic, she says, “They didn't have transit centers. If you 
were going to make a connection, it was just yourself on the street at a bus stop. It is surprising 
how much more likely you are to make the connection when it is at a transit center than if you 
were just you getting off somewhere and waiting at a stop. You could miss it pretty easily. It is a 
big improvement.” 

 
Looking towards the future for the area, she thought “that most people would want the very 
best, the very greenest” be included in the plans in order to preserve wildlife and ensure that 
people are able to continue gardening in Hilltop: “I know that people want to be able to foresee 
the gardens that they have as having the kind of future that matters”. She feels strongly that 
open space and public parks should play a prominent role in the MLK area. 
   

3 



Harold Moss – It was an old neighborhood when we got there, that was in 
1950. It had its churches and businesses. I recall that there were really just a 
few vacancies; it was a shop in every storefront and your needs were pretty 
much answered that way. If you wanted to get to a larger vegetable market 
you’d go downtown. 
 
K Street was really pretty vibrant at the time, people had businesses and 
that’s were where your stores were. Most of them would get the stuff off 
your list and pull it from the shelves. Meat markets were alive and well. They cut the meat right 
there. So the business district was close and very good and there were, at that time, very few 
black businesses in the area. The things that I remember most were Harold Meyers Drug Store 
at the corner of 11th and K Street, that was one of the big operations there. 
 
And there were open markets all over the place where the vendors would be standing there 
with their wares and groceries all laid up neatly. You’d buy what you needed, sacked it, caught 
the streetcar, and went home. Of course St Joe’s was the biggest thing in the area, the only 
thing sticking up high enough and it was an old red brick building. But it was beautiful, a 
landmark. It was a working area. Well, we had a lot of taverns that was the other land mark. 
There was a theater there and bakeries, lots of bakeries. People baked bread and went and 
bought fresh bread. And you’d stand there and be amazed watching the bread slicer cut the 
bread up. 
 

4 



Ivory Critendon 
  

 I came back to the states in 1952 and I bought my 
first home in Tacoma. I was still in the army but I 
bought my first house it was on 17th but that’s what 
kept me here. At that time you could buy a home for 
6,000 dollars. And so I enjoyed being a homeowner. 
  
 In 1959 when I started in the hilltop, I spent most of my time in a body 
shop. I started on 23rd and K Street with DiPolita Body Shop. He was the only 
Italian at that time that had a body shop. And so we worked as partners for maybe 
5 years and in 1963 I got my own body shop. In that time I had a lot of fatherless 
children who were drug addicts and gang members and Drug dealers. 
 New neighbors moved in  because of the schools 
and other things but what they found out was that this 
was a beautiful neighborhood.  
 
 The spirit is right. Love changes things. I’m a family type pastor. If you’re 
under forty you’re my son or daughter and if you’re over forty you’re my brother 
or sister. 
 

I would like to see Martin Luther King street dressed up just like Down-
town, and those streets. I know I’ll pay a price. It’s going to save the city a lot of 
headaches. You cannot help people when you’ve got them in a depressed area. 

 
I enjoy working in the Hilltop, I enjoy the scholars in the Hilltop, I enjoy 

the businesses in the Hilltop. I bought about six or seven houses in the Hilltop 
and we really want our neighborhood to be the best part of the city. I would call it 
leadership neighborhood. McCarver has good students and Brotherhood Chris-
tian Academy has great scholars. 

Greg Tanbara 
 
I was Born in 1953 in Seattle while my dad was doing his residency up there at children’s hospital’s a pediatrician. My mother grew up in 

Tacoma near Downtown on 17th and Fawcett street. My earliest memories of the Hilltop My father started his practice in 1955 and he used to 
have an office on what used to be called, The Tacoma medical Center which was a little group of brick buildings, between J and 11th/12th L/M. 
My mother’s family was from here they had a dry cleaning business in Tacoma. I remember running around the medical center as a kid. I also 
remember the Harold Meyer drug store which was on the corner of 11th and MLK at that time it was K street. We did Christmas shopping up 
there and all sorts of things I bought my first camera up there. Went there to get prescriptions filled. On the corner of what’s now Brazil and 
Martin Luther King was one of the first supermarkets, the Food King. We used to do all of our shopping there. If was really a retail area. He 
started his practice up there. I think it was the same year Mary Bridge children’s hospital was established. There was no children’s hospital 
there before in Tacoma. 

 
As kids we used to just roam around up there and when I was in High School. I went to Stadium hs and a lot the students were up from k street also. And at that time there was also the Paul-

son’s furniture and appliance store and that was an interesting place to be and I think I bought my first stereo up there. I would go up there with mostly my folks and my cousins. There was also a 
small drug store up there in the medical center. I think there’s still a pharmacy up there It was one of the small brick building son the corner there. I think my father would just about every day go in 
there and I remember him taking me there and I was just fascinated because when they made you a cherry coke they mixed it they would throw in the coke syrup and in would go the carbonated 
water and then they’d throw some cherry syrup and then they’d mix it and boy that stuff was good. And I work for the health department now and I’m sure it wasn’t that healthy but It tasted really 
good. 

 
In those days it seemed like every one of those doctors’ offices up there it seemed like they had an aquarium. And I tried to have an aquarium but the fish were always dying. There was no air 

conditioning in those offices and it was hot, it was really hot. At least in my father’s practice there were a lot of people from the neighborhood that would come in. My father practiced for about 53 
years and he stayed in the Hilltop area the whole time. He had a couple of different offices, on 19th and MLK and now his group is located in the Baker building which is across the street from Mul-
ticare. That was something he decided. One was because it was close to the hospitals but another was because he was very interested in that community up there. 

 
My father has had a couple of projects but one of them was working on health care clinics for people who didn’t have health care and the second one was in the hilltop, a bunch of volunteer 

nurses and doctors would come and work at the clinic, and I remember one Tacoma general’s head pharmacist Richard Driskell would volunteer on e or two nights a week and help dispense drugs 
and in the early days they would just gather whatever they could like samples and that sort of thing, but I thought that was really cool. My mother told me that while they were starting up those 
clinics in the late sixties they pretty much knew right away that a lot of those people coming in were going to need to get specialty care, and so he talked to Bob Yamashka who was running the Ta-
coma community house and asked him if he would host a meeting and about 50 physicians were willing to take referral from the m and not charge them clinic. The feelings I get from when I was 
young was that the people up there are really interested in each other and the names that you’ll hear like Alberta Canada and Mary Harper and those folks were really very dedicated people e in that 
community and I think they end up being that way because the community is very interested in doing stuff for each other. 

 
I lived on Tacoma Ave for about 4 years and we lived in what was the Japanese Language school for the Japanese community and that was a building that was probably built in the 20’s some 

time. It was a pretty large 3 story building built on the hill. There were classrooms there an auditorium or assembly hall and there were teacher’s quarters for the head teachers and that’s where we 
were in those quarters. The Japanese community built that because they were interested in their children getting some formal training in the japans Language So every day the Japanese children 
would have to go to public school and all of them were American citizens and then they’d go to Japanese language school for classes there, but it also served as a place where the Tacoma Buddhist 
Japanese community and the Methodist Japanese community would come together and do some things together and a lot of my mother’s family friends are associated with that school and went to 
church there. While we there the Japanese community in Tacoma was pretty much gone, because most of them did not return after World War 2. 

 
When I was a kid I always thought of Hilltop as a place where my father worked and spent a lot of time. When I was young I always thought of it as a second place where I could go and peo-

ple knew who I was and I could go and get to see interesting stuff like emergency rooms and hardware stores. There was a lot of retail going on up there it was like the old main street the store-
fronts were narrow but deep one after another with neon signs and restraints and small café’s and that sort of a thing, bars there were a lot of people up there. I think the neat parts of that commu-
nity outweigh the stigma that the 80’s left, with the crypts and bloods up there. Its one of my favorite places to do business is up there I think there’s a lot of hope and there’s a good spirit in the 
area. 

 
The Food King was the first store that I had ever seen with automatic doors and back then they had a pressure pad so you would step on a pressure pad and the door would swing open. And 

my sister was really small maybe to or three and she wasn’t heavy enough to trip the door and she would step on the pressure plate for people. 

Gail Cameron 
  
 When I was growing up here family was fam-
ily. I started at St. Leo’s and then I transferred to 
McCarver when I was missing my family and my friends. My experience here up on the Hill was ex-
citing growing up. It was safe, the environment was safe. Everyone knew everyone and if you got in 
trouble your momma knew about it before you got home because everyone knew everyone. I’ve seen 
a lot of changes on the corner of MLK there  used to be a barber shop, a laundry mat and taverns 
where my father used to hang out, as you call a soul food restaurant and the churches Rev. Criten-
don’s body shop was on the corner. 
 
 When I went to McCarver right across the street was a candy shop and it was the most popular 
place in town and I used to get credit for candy, I can’t remember her name but the owner  was the 
sweetest lady and she would let us build up to a dollar and she would never let us go past a dollar, 
and I remember one year we were going on a field trip to MT. Rainier and I was in 3rd grade my 
mother packed my lunch and it was something I didn’t want I so I went to  the candy store at that 
time candy was no more than a penny or 5 cents and I got myself a sack full of candy. And on the 
way to Mt. rainier I had this great big old bag of candy, and everyone on the bus wanted a piece of 
candy I wasn’t giving away any candy, they had to buy my candy and it was like a store on the bus. I 
had the goodies for them to eat on the way and it was fun. 
  

  I remember having block parties here. I remember at 
McCarver we used to have after school dances and it was called 
teen time. We used to have talent shows at McCarver after school it 
was an exciting time a fun time.  
 
 We used to have a basketball team but the best was the football team and the cheerleaders and 
my cousin was the queen cheerleader one time. No matter how many games we played Macilvey, 
Gault didn’t matter; all that mattered was to beat Jason Lee. It was enough to just beat Jason Lee. 
 
 I’ve seen the changes at St. Joseph’s Hospital. I was born there. My home church was on the 
corner of 17th and I and I watched it move from 17th to over on the east side. The church is 128 years 
old here in Tacoma. I still have family that live here on J street and MLK we have a long family his-
tory up here on the hill. I see a lot of good changes. I see a lot of people not afraid to come out and 
sit on their porch. Sitting and barbequing. I see people coming out and walking again. They can feel 
safe here up on the hill. 
 
 I grew up on  19th and Yakima, I remember we used to have a forest and we called it monkey 
vine. My mother lived on 19th and Yakima for 66 years they should have named the street after her ha
-ha. When we would leave school all the kids  used to go down there and you’d have a cigarette you 
snuck from your dad or your mom, and that was the place to meet up. If you were cool or you were 
tough that was the place to be and it was fun. We used to play hide and go seek and kiss the boys in 
there but it was the place to be away from the eyes of teachers and parents brothers and sisters would 
say they were gonna go home and tell mom you kissed a boy in the monkey vines it was great fun. 
 
 It snowed a lot here back in the early sixties, and seventies.  
 

My favorite place to go sledding was on 19th street because back 
then they used to block all the streets all the way down to pacific so 
everyone in the neighborhood down to 25th , but 19th st. was the 
spot. Cardboard, inner tubes, even your jacket. Anything you felt 
like you could get on and slide all the way down. The thing of it 
was that from 19th street you’d have to go all the way down to Pa-
cific. So if you could do that you had the respect of everyone dur-
ing the snow time. It was fun. 
 
 At my home, where I grew up. I never knew what is was to go to a store. My mother provided 
everything we needed. We fruit trees vegetable trees and the most beautiful flower gardens you ever 
wanted to see. I hated working in them during the summer time. But overall it paid off to see how 
beautiful it was. I used to watch my mother make that bootleg wine out of the big barrels out of the 
grapes she put in there and the house would be stinking. But I guess it was the best tasting wine, be-
cause my daddy sure liked it. 
 
 I grew up alone. My sister was 22 years older than me. And my brother is 21 years older than 
me. We used to have a club going on up here and it was called the J Street Jutters. It was a fun club 
we had our dolls and tea sets and if you got a stick of your mom’s lipstick it was really the bomb, it 
was cool. And we used to come up to the park. That’s when McCarver had the pool and we used to 
come and sit around with our dolls like we were at the beach. and all the little boys would be talking 
and we have on our lipstick and just be ignoring them, soaking it all in and the little boys would be 
throwing water on us and we’d just brush it off. It was cool back them. 
 
 I went to Gaulf for middle school and I really didn’t know anyone there I really didn’t have 
friends and I felt like I was taken away from all of my friends, and I just went through the motions at 
school. And I got to come back on this side of the hill and I thought once I came back my mother 
was going to let me go to stadium. I was wrong. I ended up going to Lincoln and I was devastated. 
 
 140 family member here in Tacoma 
 

Morris McCullum 
 
 I’ve been up here 35 years at 4 locations. I was back east and then I had an opportunity to come out here 
with a gentleman who had been out here before. The building was for sale and I was in retail. I came out here in 
1958 and bought the K Street Department Store at 1124 MLK which is where I’m at Today. What goes around 
comes around.  
 

When I came out here and bought this department store here at this location 
K Street was a very vibrant neighborhood for 7 or 8 blocks -  there wasn’t a 
hole in the wall that wasn’t retail.  
 
 We had a theater, grocery stores electric shops furniture stores restaurants, and it was composed of a lot of 
retail businesses. In fact we were the second largest retail center in the city of Tacoma. Downtown being the big-
gest. And of course the mall came into existence and things but when I first came up here I encountered a lot of 
drug activity. But I lived through it. At one time our section was the worst in crime now we’re the best. K Street 
was a very vibrant neighborhood, business district and had a big medical center behind here. No St. Joes and Ta-
coma General have increased their footprint and are still building. We’re going to have a community health build-
ing across the street here, as part of the medical corridor. 
 
 We have a lot of beautiful homes here. There are many vibrant neighborhoods and they take care of their 
places but the concept of the city in general thinks it’s a bad area up here but in reality it’s not. 

Laura Jensen was born in Tacoma General Hospital, and her church life and 
family’s active membership in the Valhalla Hall brought her frequently to the 
MLK area. The Valhalla Hall was one of the center points for the Scandina-
vian community in Tacoma, and especially on Hilltop. Located at 1216 Martin 
Luther King Jr Way, then known as K St, the Valhalla Hall served as a gather-
ing place and venue for social events. One of the many groups that met there 
was the Order of Runeberg, which was founded in 1920 in Wisconsin to cele-
brate Swedish-Finnish culture and traditions. Laura’s family, with strong con-
nection to Finland from her grandmother’s side, were members of the local 
Order of Runeberg and performed in the choir. The choir began in 1913 at the 
home of Laura Jensen’s great-grandfather, John Malm. Laura Jensen, a pub-
lished author, wrote a poem entitled Corsage about her memories of serving 
on the kitchen committee when she was young at Valhalla Hall. 

 
The freezer holds only a few things. 
Fewer as it makes its ermine muff of frost, 
as it becomes time, and overtime, to defrost. 
The shelves hold a few things. At the back 
 
on the lowest slab with the margarine, 
my withered corsage, red carnation: 
I dressed in black, and went on the bus 
to a motor hotel downtown, where were gathered 
 
members of the Order of Runeberg. We may never 
reveal their secrets; but we learned none 
as we settled the kitchen of the Valhalla Temple, 
spread tables with paper from a heavy roll, 
 
laid the cups together, a field of rocks on the counter, 
layered the sandwiches on thick platters. 
Or if someone forgot, we were asked to button up 
and run down the block for Half & Half. 
 
As we walked past the locked dance hall 
we peered through the cracks into the big dark there, 
then down the stairs to the street, past the tavern, 
the closed shops, empty window of a bakery, 
 
to the Food King, holding the money 
in a pocket in a warm shut fist. 
Later an older woman you could trust 
released the fragrance from the can of coffee, 
 
it rose to the high ceiling, she 
spilled some into cheesecloth, twisted the ends 
and lowered the white into the speckled boiling pot. 
Not long after that, the meeting would end. 
 
At the motor hotel, on a rolling board 
were pictures of the Order of Runeberg. I found 
myself there, a small blonde, her face 
turning inward, her hand on her mouth. 
 
And the house I lived in, 
my grandma on the porch long before I was born - 
her guitar, her white blouse. The occasion 
was the forming of the chapter of the Order of Runeberg. 
 
That night I talked. To my sister, to my mother. 
Fingered the fringe of her flowered shawl. 
My carnation, a twenty-five-year carnation 
was red. That night I did not dance. 
 

Harold Moss 
 

K Street was really pretty vibrant at the time; you know people had 
businesses that were where your stores were. Of course stores (grocery 
stores) were quite different then your supermarkets today. Most of them 
you’d go in and they’d get the stuff of your list and pull it from the shelves 
and that sort of thing. Meat markets were alive and well. They cut the meat 
right there. Poultry and that sort of thing. They’d pretty much gone out of 
the business of having live poultry at that time. Mother would go in and 
feel the breast of the chicken and all that and say I’ll take this one and 
they’d go out kill it and de-feather it or whatever they call it. So the busi-
ness district was close and very good and there were very (at that time) very 
few black businesses in that area. The things that I remember most were 
like Harold Meyers Drug Store at the corner of I think 11th and K St. that 
was one of the big operations there. 
 It was an old neighborhood when we got there, that was in 1950. It 
had its churches and businesses.  
 
I recall is that there were just really few vacancies 
it was a shop in every store front and your needs 
were pretty much answered that way. If you 
wanted to get to a larger vegetable market you’d 
go downtown. And there were open markets all 
over the place where the vendors would be stand-
ing there with their wares and groceries all laid up 
neatly. You’d buy what you needed, sacked it, 

caught the street 
car, and went 
home. 
 
Of course St Joe’s was the 
biggest thing in the area, the 
only thing sticking up high 
enough and it was an old red 
brick building. But it was 
beautiful, a landmark. It was 
a working area. Well we had 
a lot of taverns that was the 
other land mark. There was a 
theater there and bakeries, 
lots of bakeries. People 
baked bread and went and 
bought fresh bread. And 
you’d stand there and be 
amazed watching the bread 
slicer cut the bread up. 

Laura Jensen 
 
The Valhalla Hall also 
served as a venue where social gatherings and events would take place. Normanna 
Hall was also an important venue for both the Scandinavian Community and other 
communities on the Hilltop. In particular, dances were popular at Valhalla Hall and 
Laura Jensen’s mother was a pianist in the Gord Family Orchestra, which played at 
the hall through the depression, and in 1934 became the choir leader for the Order 
of Runeberg. The Gord Family Orchestra played a mix of Scandinavian and popular 
dance band music. While they were playing, they would have signs by the stage to 
tell the audience what the next dance would be, such as the Foxtrot. 
 
Her mother was also the piano accompanist during a choir tour to Finland organized 
by Leonard Svedberg, a prominent member of the Scandinavian community of Ta-
coma, in 1930.   A delegation of choir members from the Northwest traveled to the 
western coast of Finland were they were well received, but they would be prevented 
from returning to Scandinavia again until many years after World War II. 
 
Laura fondly recalls the lodge and especially one particular memory from the hall: 
 

“One brighter, whiter memory was the third floor banquet room, a couple of 
times -I am sure it wasn't only one time, I was at a banquet that the order to 
Runeberg put on in the Valhalla Hall. Then we would go up in the third floor 
banquet room, and I remember there was a lot of light that flooded that room. 
There were a lot of windows there, and it was just a very, very day lit experi-
ence. Very interesting to be there.” 
 

Laura’s father was also a long time member of the Hilltop community, serving as a 
pharmacist at the Economy Drug Store on MLK Way for nearly a decade. She re-
called him taking the bus to work and how this made a lasting impression. For 22 
years, she has walked, biked, or bused everywhere she wants to go. Using alterna-
tive transportation and bypassing car ownership has served inspiration for her art. 
Comparing the bus system now to then, she spoke of the improvements in accessi-
bility and ease of use, including the addition of bike racks, kneeling buses, and tran-
sit centers. On this last topic, she says, 
 

“They didn't have transit centers. If you were going to make a connection, it 
was just yourself on the street at a bus stop. You can still do that at many 
places, but now you can wait and make a connection at transit center and that 
is a lot better. It is surprising how much more likely you are to make the con-
nection when it is at a transit center than if you were just you getting off some-
where and waiting at a stop. You could miss it pretty easily. It is a big im-
provement.” 
 

Looking towards the future for the area, she thought “that most people would want 
the very best, the very greenest” be included in the plans in order to preserve wild-
life and ensure that people are able to continue gardening in Hilltop: “I know that 
people want to be able to foresee the gardens that they have as having the kind of 
future that matters”. She feels strongly that open space and public parks should play 
a prominent role in the MLK area. 

   PPPERSONALERSONALERSONAL   SSSTORIESTORIESTORIES   OFOFOF   TTTACOMAACOMAACOMA’’’SSS   HHHISTORICISTORICISTORIC   HHHILLTOPILLTOPILLTOP      



 



MLK Intern Project – Historic MLK Overview 
 
 
As part of the process of looking forward, the 
oral history project included a review of the 
historic development of the MLK area and the 
Hilltop. The MLK subarea has been the home 
to many communities since Tacoma’s 
founding and was a popular neighborhood for 
its proximity to the downtown business district 
and dramatic views. This historic overview 
aimed to capture some of the significant 
changes in the neighborhood and highlight a 
few of the communities that have called the 
area home.   
 

Research for this component was conducted at 
the Tacoma Public Library’s Northwest Room, 
which maintains a substantial collection of 
Tacoma-specific historical documents. The 
research also included a review of the 1993 
“Cultural Resources Survey of Tacoma’s Hilltop 
Neighborhood” by Eysaman*Appleford*Hoos for 
information on specific buildings and historical 
background. A review of the transcripts of 

another oral history project conducted in 1976 was also performed. The previous oral 
history project was not focused on a single area, but several of the transcripts contained 
stories related to the MLK subarea that focused further research and investigation.   
 
At the recent open house at McCarver 
Elementary School, two posters were 
displayed that were the result of this 
project. The first poster highlighted changes 
in the built environment, especially related 
to changes in the mode of transportation in 
society. Streetcars were an essential part of 
the vibrancy of the MLK subarea and 
Tacoma, like many cities in the United 
States, grew around the streetcar network 
before ultimately deciding in favor of rubber 



tire buses. In 1938, the streetcar network and the cable car (of the same type now 
iconic to San Francisco) were taken out of service and removed.  
 
The second poster highlights three of 
the many communities that have 
called the MLK subarea home over the 
years. The three communities that 
were highlighted were the African-
American community (which has a 
history of community advocacy and 
stewardship in the MLK subarea), the 
Japanese-American community (which 
was a thriving part of Tacoma until 
their internment during World War II), 
and the Scandinavian-American 
community (which had a strong presence in the MLK area from the earliest days of 
Tacoma). The pictures selected here speak to a few of the many different stories that 
overlap in the neighborhood over time.   



The MLK Area has always been a place of ethnic and cultural diversity 
There is a strong history of community advocacy and action in the neighborhood 

The Hilltop has been a key place in the social life of many communities  

 

 

 

 

 

1940 

1941 

1942 

Japanese-American stu-
dents raise money for a 
new student union build-
ing.  

A family leaves Tacoma 
for the internment 
camps from Union Sta-
tion. Over 110,000 peo-
ple of Japanese de-
scent, including citizens, 
were detained for the 
duration of WWII.  

A Japanese-American Church in Tacoma, pillaged 
during the community’s absence  

Japanese-
American parade 
float in Tacoma 

Normanna Hall, built in 1923, has 
also been a venue for many  
cultural groups outside of the 
Scandinavian community in Hill-
top. This photo is for a Swiss yo-
deling performance that was part 
of the German Mayfest in 1964.  
 
Valhalla Hall, another venue built 
originally for the Scandinavian 
community, also frequently hosted 
members of other cultural com-
munities on the Hilltop, such as 
the Italian Americans below 
(1941) 

1945 

1971 1972 

1927 
Japanese-American owned 
produce stand located down-
town. Produce stands and 
grocery stores were common 
businesses for the community 

1964  

One of the many 
choirs to perform 
at Normanna Hall  

1968 

1968 

 

Valhalla Hall is  
another venue with 
historic significance 
on Hilltop. It was 
built in 1906 by a 
fraternal organiza-
tion founded in 
1884  

Harold Moss, pictured here 
in the early years of his 
political career on MLK 
Way, would go on to be-
come Tacoma’s first  
African-American City 
Council Member and 
Mayor, and the first Afri-
can-American elected to 
the Pierce County Council. 
 
 

Responding to community 
need in the 1970s, many 
community organizations 
sprung up to provide cul-
tural and educational op-
portunities for the resi-
dents of Hilltop, including 
the Ujamaa Center.  
 
Activities included painting 
and drawing, sculpture, ka-
rate,  
African and jazz dance, 
music workshops in voice 
and guitar, and sewing 
and knitting.  

 

“The Exclusives”  

 

“The Originals”  

1969 Ed Taylor Barber & Beauty Salon  



Native Americans settlements,  predominately the Puyallup people, in Tacoma Area 
 First European settler arrives in Tacoma Area  
Tacoma selected as western terminus for the Northern Pacific Railroad 

 
Tacoma officially incorporated as a city  

 

 

 

 

 

 

1923 

2012 

1972 

1923 1923 1925 Normanna Hall on Left 

1908 
1910 

c1935  
The dark black lines are streetcars that connected Hilltop to 
the downtown commercial center, the employment centers, 
and to recreational areas, such as Point Defiance. A cable 
provided  

1957 

1938 Normanna Hall Exterior 1955 Normanna Hall Interior 

(State Shuffleboard championship) 

1938 Last Streetcar Run and the Cables for the Cablecar 

1949 K St Club, Exterior and Interior c1955 

c1955 

2006 

1962 



MLK Intern Project – MLK Healthy Community Evaluation 

OUTLINE 
August 9, 2012 

 
Overview and Purpose 
The  Purpose  of  this  Healthy  Community  Evaluation  is  to 
assess  the  current health  condition of  the MLK District and 
identify  some  policies  and  measures  that  could  be 
implemented over time that would further the desire to grow 
in a healthy way and help produce better health outcomes in 
this  community. This evaluation may  serve as an additional 
lens through which to view the  long term plans for the MLK 
District and support the kind of growth consistent with many 
of the principles of healthy livable communities.  
 
Timeline  
August 16th ‐ MLK District Open House 
August 30th ‐ Community Stakeholder’s Workshop 
September 7th – Healthy Community Evaluation Report 
 
Identification of the Community 
The Martin Luther King Jr. Way district occupies the heart of 
one  of  Tacoma’s  oldest  neighborhoods  that  lies  between 
Yakima and ‘M’ Street and between Division Avenue to one half block south of South 19th Street 
with an extension west along 10th and 13th Streets to one‐half block west of Ainsworth Street.  
 
Community Input 
The City of Tacoma is working with residents, businesses and property owners to prepare a plan 
to  encourage development  and  economic  revitalization  in  the MLK district. A public  scoping 
meeting  was  held  January  19,  2012  to  ask  citizens  and  organizations  for  their  concerns, 
comments  and  ideas. Written public  comments were  also  collected  via mail  and email  from 
January 9, 2012 through February 10, 2012. The preliminary  list of health determinants in this 
outline was  collected  from  the  comments  given  during  the  initial  scoping  process. An Open 
House  on  August  16th  will  initiate  community  discussion  about  conducting  a  Healthy 

Community  Evaluation  followed  by  a  Stakeholder’s  participatory 
workshop  on  August  30th.  The  MLK  District  Healthy  Community 
Evaluation Report will be completed on September 7, 2012. 
 
Existing Health Condition in the MLK District 
Research baseline conditions of community including health status, 
health determinants, and vulnerabilities to health effects. 
   

 1



Preliminary List Health Determinants  
Public Transportation, Affordable Housing, Quality and Proximity of Public Services, Living Wage 
Jobs,  Neighborhood  Integrity,  Social  Capital,  Open  Space,  Community  Ownership  Through 
Home Ownership, Security, Pedestrian Paths, Run‐Off Concern, Affordable Housing For People 
Already  Here‐  Displacement,  Environmental  Impact,  Daycares,  Family  Size  Housing,  Safe 
Sidewalks, Noise From Traffic Congestion, Attractive Streetscape, Loss Of Existing Identity, Third 
Places  For  Gathering, Walkability,  Urban  Density With  Adequate  Green  Space,  Congestion, 
Crime Rates, Historic Preservation, Economic Diversity,  Security of Employment,  Living Wage 
Jobs,  Ecological  Sustainability,  Urban  Heat  Islands,  Erosion  Control,  Participation  in  Public 
Decision‐Making 
 
Prioritization of Key Health Determinants 

• Healthy Affordable Housing 
• Access to Healthy Food 
• Air, Water, Soil Quality 
• Noise 
• Walkability 
• Physical Activity  

 
Preliminary List of Data Needs to Determine 
Causal Evidence 

• Existing population demographic and 
health statistics 

• Environmental measures to assess quality of air, soil, water, and noise 
• Data to evaluate and weigh evidence of causal effects between the health determinants 

and health effects 
 

Resources 
• Tacoma Pierce County Health Department 
• Human Impact Partners 
• Healthy People 2020 Objectives  
• LEED For Neighborhood Development 
• World Health Organization 
• U.S Census Statistics 
• CDC 
• Active Living By Design‐Robert Wood Johnson Foundation 
• Walk Score 
• American Public Health Association 

 
Goal: Recommendations with Health Elements Addressed 
Propose evidence‐based recommendations that promote policies and measures to promote 
health determinants with positive health impacts. 
 

 2



Determinants of Health 
 

 
 
 
 

Causal Pathways 
 

 
 

t Toolkit: A Handbook to Conducting HIA, 3rd Edition.  
tners.  February 2011. Adapted with permission. 

From A Health Impact Assessmen
akland, CA:  Human Impact Par
ttp://www.humanimpact.org/
O
h  
 



MLK Subarea Plan 

Public Comments Collected January –February 2012 



Th  MLK S b  Pl  & EIS ill b ild  i ti  l  d t di  f  th   h The MLK Subarea Plan & EIS will build on existing plans and studies for the area  such as:The MLK Subarea Plan & EIS will build on existing plans and studies for the area, such as:g p

Mixed‐Use Centers Plan and Code Update (2005‐2009)Mixed Use Centers Plan and Code Update (2005 2009)

A N i hb h d Mi d U C t th MLK Di t i t• As a Neighborhood Mixed‐Use Center, the MLK District 
will be a focus for new growth and development within 
the Cityy

• These areas are to redevelop as urban villages where• These areas are to redevelop as urban villages, where 
l d t t li k l hi dpeople can and want to live, work, play, worship, and 

learn

• The centers must include a range of housing choices• The centers must include a range of housing choices, 
employment opportunities transit supportiveemployment opportunities, transit‐supportive 
d l d i d bi l f ili i d idevelopment, pedestrian and bicycle facilities, and a mix 
of shops, services and public spacesp p p

• Design requirements should provide flexibility while• Design requirements should provide flexibility while 
i th t b ildi h l hi th i iensuring that new buildings help achieve the vision as a 

neighborhood center, by addressing and promoting 
pedestrian activity, neighborhood scale and character, p y, g ,
interesting and engaging streetscapes, crime prevention,interesting and engaging streetscapes, crime prevention, 
and transitions between higher and lower intensityand transitions between higher and lower intensity 
d l tdevelopment   

• Increased building height should be allowed in the core g g
of the districts if projects incorporate certain publicof the districts, if projects incorporate certain public 
benefit featuresbenefit features

Hillt d MLK Mi d U C t St t i Pl (2010)
• Reduced parking is appropriate for projects in the core 

Hilltop and MLK Mixed Use Center Strategic Plan (2010) of the centers, and district‐wide parking management 
Key Findings:

, p g g
strategies should be exploredKey Findings: strategies should be explored

hil h l i d l h h lIMAGE & IDENTITY ISSUES MUST BE REVERSED • While the planning and regulatory changes help set a 

Electric Streetcar Alignment Options forThe Hilltop and MLK Mixed‐use Center persistently suffers  positive framework for redevelopment of the Mixed‐Use  Electric Streetcar Alignment Options for 
Martin Luther King Jr Way (2009)

p p y ff
from a negative image and lack of clear district identity

p p
Centers, a more refined level of planning is necessary to Martin Luther King Jr. Way (2009)from a negative image and lack of clear district identity. 

These conditions must change over time to achieve long term
Centers, a more refined level of planning is necessary to 
explore the specific potential and implementation • Three basic design options evaluated for These conditions must change over time to achieve long term 

d l t l
explore the specific potential and implementation 
strategies needed in each district feasibility and preliminary cost:redevelopment goals. strategies needed in each district y p y

1 MLK/J Street Loop System (MLK Way SECONOMIC CONDITIONS PRESENT A CHALLENGING 1. MLK/J Street Loop System (MLK Way, S 
6 h S J S d S 20 h S ) $57 7

ECONOMIC CONDITIONS PRESENT A CHALLENGING 
ENVIRONMENT 6th St., J St., and S. 20th St.) ‐ $57.7 ENVIRONMENT

i li i f bl di i f millionPresent economic realities present unfavorable conditions for 

2 Double Track Pitched‐Loop Systemtraditional private investment, but potential for Public‐ 2. Double Track Pitched‐Loop System 
(Dual parallel tracks along MLK from S

p p f
Private partnerships (Dual parallel tracks along MLK from S 

th S 9th ld

Private partnerships

4th to S 19th, streetcar would reverse TRANSFORMATIONAL PROJECTS CAN PROVIDE TIPPING 
direction at the end of the track) –POINTS )
$52.34 millionSeveral key projects in the Mixed‐Use Center have potential $52.34 million

3 Si l T k ith b t (Si l
Several key projects in the Mixed Use Center have potential 
to create tipping points for improving economic activity and 3. Single Track with bypass system (Single 

th th)
to create tipping points for improving economic activity and 
tt ti th i t t lane track between South 4th and 19th) attracting other investment.

– $38.43 millionSUSTAINED COLLABORATION AND LEADERSHIP WILL BE $

• Each option has different tradeoffs that will
SUSTAINED COLLABORATION AND LEADERSHIP WILL BE 
ESSENTIAL • Each option has different tradeoffs that will 

d t b b l d f d t i
ESSENTIAL

ifi d i d ll b i f k h ld i need to be balanced for pedestrians, Unified, sustained collaboration of stakeholders, in 
bicycles, transit, and automobiles according partnership with the Hilltop Business District, a Community 
to Complete Street Guidelines.  

p p p y
Development Corporation (CDC), and the City of Tacoma, can pDevelopment Corporation (CDC), and the City of Tacoma, can 
make desired changesmake desired changes.

THE SMALL THINGS MATTER
Incremental integrated progress will make a difference inIncremental, integrated progress will make a difference in 
changing perceptions and building momentumchanging perceptions and building momentum.

SUBAREA PLANNINGWILL ARTICULATE A COMMUNITY‐SUBAREA PLANNING WILL ARTICULATE A COMMUNITY
WIDE VISIONWIDE VISION
Development of a Subarea plan for the Mixed use Center willDevelopment of a Subarea plan for the Mixed‐use Center will 

i l h i l i i idi h i karticulate a physical vision, providing the investment market 

C t l N i hb h d A ti St t (2010)
with greater predictability and opening up opportunities to 

Central Neighborhood Action Strategy (2010)
g p y p g p pp

channel other funding sources.
• Participate in the visioning, planning and

channel other funding sources.
Participate in the visioning, planning and 

formulation of regulations for Mixed Use Centers toformulation of regulations for Mixed Use Centers to 
promote development and redevelopment thatKey Goals: Martin Luther King Jr. Way Design Plan(1991) promote development and redevelopment that 

ib i ll i i lk bl l

y

• Build sustained collaboration and leadership
Martin Luther King Jr. Way Design Plan(1991)

C di t di t i t id h t ki contributes to visually interesting, walkable places• Build sustained collaboration and leadership • Coordinate a district‐wide approach to parking 
• Support attractive development, redevelopment,• Build District identity and transportation Support attractive development, redevelopment, 
preservation and rehabilitation in residential areas

y

• Build strong stable families • Focus for the corridor should be on pedestrian‐ preservation and rehabilitation in residential areas.• Build strong, stable families Focus for the corridor should be on pedestrian
oriented design • Support efforts to reduce the negative social and • Improve educational performance oriented design

economic impacts on community‐building • Increase homeownership • Install sidewalk extensions (bulb outs) along MLK  p y g
associated with concentrating programs services

Increase homeownership

i i d i d di i

( ) g
Way associated with concentrating programs, services 

and housing for populations with a history of
• Engage economic restructuring design and district 

Way

U d t t i l t i l di and housing for populations with a history of 
i i l ti it

marketing • Upgrade streetscapes using elements including 
criminal activity

g

• Engage public private partnerships benches, trash receptacles, bicycle racks, street 
• Improve bicycle routes along roads and trails

• Engage public‐private partnerships
trees, and planter boxes p y g

• Encourage the development of a 6th Avenue and
• Improved infrastructure

, p

• Incorporate pedestrian lighting for safety • Encourage the development of a 6th Avenue and 
LK W li h il• Create District‐wide sustainability

• Incorporate pedestrian lighting for safety
MLK Way light rail or streetcar route Create District wide sustainability

d i i h hi i f b i
• Improve access to People’s Park from 

• Continue support for neighborhood parks and• Integrate contemporary design with historic fabric surrounding streets Continue support for neighborhood parks and 
playgrounds and community gardens• Provide efficient and convenient transportation

g

• Parking lots should include landscaping street Tacoma’s Climate Action Plan (2008)playgrounds and community gardensProvide efficient and convenient transportation • Parking lots should include landscaping, street 
d i i i d

( )

• City Leading by Example• Maintain, improve and extend use of street lights, trees, pedestrian amenities, and separate  • City Leading by Example
benches, trash receptacles and other pedestrian walkways to public sidewalks and building 

• Moving People and Goods More Efficiently
, p p

amenities along MLK Way
y p g

entrances
• Enhancing Compact/Livable Neighborhoods

amenities along MLK Way

C di t ith th Hillt B i Di t i t t

entrances

R l ti h ld id t fl ibilit i Enhancing Compact/Livable Neighborhoods

ffi i i O ildi H d
• Coordinate with the Hilltop Business District to • Regulations should provide greater flexibility in 

• Energy Efficiency in Our Buildings, Homes, and create incentives for improved sign design for parking requirements
Industriescommercial establishments• Promote mixed‐use development and consider
• Reuse and Recycle From Buildings to Food• Support design standards for residential

Promote mixed use development, and consider 
allowing increased housing density in areas within • Reuse and Recycle... From Buildings to Food 

W t
• Support design standards for residential, 

i l ffi d i d i h
allowing increased housing density in areas within 

lki di t f th b i di t i t t Waste commercial, office, and mixed structures, with a walking distance of the business district to 
• Tacoma should implement and organize a focus on ensuring appropriate transitions to support employees living in the neighborhood p g
three pronged approach to achieving its

g pp p
adjacent single family homes• Provide special transit stop design to reflect the three pronged approach to achieving its 

greenhouse gas reduction goals Office of
adjacent single family homesProvide special transit stop design to reflect the 

character of the area and encourage transit use greenhouse gas reduction goals ‐ Office of 
S t i bilit T G T (i t l)

character of the area and encourage transit use
Sustainability, Tacoma Green Team (internal), • Establish a special review district to emphasize 
and Citizens Oversight Commission

p p
the traditional development pattern andthe traditional development pattern and 
charactercharacter



 



 

1 
MLK Subarea Plan 

 

 

MLK Subarea Plan 
Catalytic projects 
 Project sites 
  
  
 

Browne’s Star Grill/Mr Mac 

MLKHDA mixed use development 

Peoples Community Center 
plaza and frontage 

Community Health Services 
office/clinic 
 

St Joseph’s Hospital office/parking 
garage 
 

Allen Renaissance Project 

Municipal Services Center  
 

MLK Catalytic Sites - Preliminary Analysis (8-19-12)



 

 

  
MLK Housing Development Association (MLKHDA) properties 

Tally Ho 
Tavern 

Hilltop Christian 
Center 

Basket Nook 

Goodfellas 

South 11th Street 

South 10th Street 

J  Street 

MLK Way 

MLKHDA 

MLKHDA 



 

 

  

MLK/J Street 10th/11th - envelope analysis 
 

Level C                          Level B 
 

100 stall parking 
deck 

76 stall parking 
deck 

77 stall parking 
deck 

7,500 sf artist 
live/work 

3,338 sf 
existing retail 

J 
St

re
e
t 

M
L
K

 W
a
y
 



 

 

  

MLK/J Street 10th/11th - envelope analysis 
 

Level A                                                      Level 1-6 
 

51 stall parking 
deck 

77 stall parking 
deck 

3,750 artist 
live/work loft 

8,000 sf retail 
frontage 

3,000 sf retail loft 

36,400 sf 
educational 
community space 
on 2 floors with 
atrium 
 
68,300 sf mixed 
income housing = 
68 dus at 1,000 

 
 

102,250 sf mixed 
income housing + 
11,250 sf artist 
live/work = 114 dus 
at 1,000 sf/du 
 



 

 

 
 MLK/J Street 10th/11th - envelope analysis 

 
25,588 square feet ground floor artist/retail (including existing 11th Street frontage) 
36,400 square feet of Educational Community Space (2 floors with atrium) 
182 mixed income housing units (at 1,000 square feet/housing unit) 
380 parking deck stalls (1 stall/du leaves 198 residual for Evergreen College) 
 

M
L
K

 W
a
y
 

J 
St

re
et

 

South 11th Street 

Parking decks 
Parking decks 

Artist Live/Work 

Retail frontage 

Artist Live/Work 

Goodfellas 

Mixed income housing 
Mixed income housing 

Mixed income housing 

Educational 
Community Space 
 

Educational 
Community Space 

Terraces/roof plaza 

Roof gardens/solar 

Hilltop Christian 
Center  

Basket Nook  

Retail frontage 

Atrium 

Tally Ho Tavern 



11th Avenue and MLK Way

Site area 26,000 32,500
3,338

J Street MLK
Level Use # Use #

C parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 100
B parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 77 parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 76

artist live/work loft 7,500
A parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 77 parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 51

artist live/work loft 3,750 retail storefront w/loft 8,000
1 mixed income housing 22,200 retail storefront loft 3,000

existing retail 11th Street 3,338 existing retail 11th Street 0
Educational Community Space 0 Educational Community Space 16,400

2 mixed income housing 22,200 Educational Community Space 20,000
3 mixed income housing 21,000 mixed income housing 19,200
4 mixed income housing 19,800 mixed income housing 18,000
5 mixed income housing 17,050 mixed income housing 16,800
6 mixed income housing 14,300

Subtotals parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 253 parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 127
existing retail 11th Street 3,338 retail storefront w/loft 11,000
artist live/work loft 11,250 artist live/work loft 0
Educational Community Space 0 Evergreen College 36,400
mixed income housing 102,250 mixed income housing 68,300
dwelling units @ 1000 sf 114 dwelling units @ 1000 sf 68

Totals parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 380
retail storefront 14,338
artist live/work 11,250
Educational Community Space 36,400
mixed income housing 170,550
dwelling units @ 1000 sf 182
Evergreen Colllege parking if housing units average 1 stall/dwelling unit 198



 

 

  

Tacoma’s Browne’s Star Grill/Beauty Time/Mister Mac Ltd 
properties 

Beauty Time 

Browne’s Star Grill 

Mister Mac Ltd 

Alberta J Canada 
Building 

MLK Way 

South 11th Street 

Earnest S Brazill/South 12th Street 



 

 

  

Browne’s Star Grill - envelope analysis 
 
12,422 square feet ground floor artist/retail (Beauty Time, Browne’s Star, new frontage) 
69 mixed income housing units (67,975 square feet at 1,000 square feet/housing unit) 
82 parking deck stalls (1 stall/du leaves 13 residual for retail) 
 

41 stall 
parking deck 

41 stall 
parking deck 

2,000 sf 
retail with 
1,000 sf loft 
= 1 du 

4,471 sf Beauty 
Time retail 
4,471 sf housing 
 
5,951 sf Browne’s 
Star Grill 
5,951 sf housing 
 

54,800 sf mixed 
income housing = 
55 dus at 1,000 
sf/du 

13,175 sf mixed 
income housing = 
13 dus at 1,000 
sf/du 

Level B                     Level A                             Level 1-4                 Level 5 



 

 

 

Browne’s Star Grill - envelope analysis 
 
12,422 square feet ground floor artist/retail (Beauty Time, Browne’s Star, new frontage) 
69 mixed income housing units (67,975 square feet at 1,000 square feet/housing unit) 
82 parking deck stalls (1 stall/du leaves 13 residual for retail) 
 

Beauty Time 

Browne’s Star Grill 

Alberta J Canada 
Building 

Artist Live/Work 
Retail frontage Parking decks 

Roof gardens/solar 

Terraces/roof plaza 

Mixed income housing 

South 11th Street 

Earnest S Brazill Street/South 12th Street 

M
L
K

 W
a
y
 



Browne's Star Grill 

Site 24,000
Level Use #

B parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 41
A parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 41

Beauty Time - first floor retail 4,471
Browne's Star Grill - first floor retail 5,951
ground floor artist/retail frontage 2,000

1 Beauty Time - upper floor housing 4,471
Browne's Star Grill - upper floor housing 5,951
loft floor artist/retail 1,000
mixed income housing 12,200

2 mixed income housing 14,200
3 mixed income housing 14,200
4 mixed income housing 14,200
5 mixed income housing 13,175

Totals parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 82
artist/retail ground floor 12,422
artist housing @1000 sf 1
mixed income housing 67,975
housing units @ 1000 sf 68
total housing units 69
residual retail parking less 1 stall/du 13
ratio residual parking/new retail 7



 

H-8 
Prototype Concepts 
MLK Subarea Plan 
 

Historic preservation 

Historic Tax Credits 
 
Federal and state historic tax credits (HTC) provide 
developers of historic properties with a dollar-for-
dollar reduction in taxes giving them a strong 
incentive to take on historic rehab projects that 
would otherwise not be financially feasible. Such 
projects transform vacant properties, revitalize 
downtowns, and collectively, create an economic 
multiplier effect. 
 
Rutgers University, with support from the Historic 
Tax Credit Coalition, analyzed the 30-year history 
of the HTC program and determined the program 
created 1,800,000 jobs, attracted $85,000,000,000 
in new private investment, and stimulated the local 
economy to a far greater extent than new 
construction. 
 
The initial versions of the HTC required developers 
to file for the tax credit after an historic rehab 
project was complete. However, many historic 
property developers and property owners have 
insufficient tax liability; earn too much income 
($250,000 or more); or are limited in their ability to 
use the credits per the pass loss limitations of the 
IRS. 
 
Others are subject to the Alternate Minimum Tax 
(AMT), a tax paid by individuals and corporations 
that would otherwise have enough credits and 
deductions to zero out their federal tax liability. 
Until recently, the AMT could not be reduced by the 
HTC. Furthermore, most developers need the cash 
the HTC represents during the project rather than 
on completion. 
 
Developers can sell the HTC to a corporate investor 
in exchange for cash invested in the project. 
However, the legal and accounting fees involved 
are relatively high so if the credit value is low there 
is little incentive for a corporate buyer. 
 
Housing & Economic Recovery Act of 2008 
The HERA of 2008 authorizes individuals (real 
estate professionals – REPs) to acquire and apply 
the tax credit to lower their Alternative Minimum 
Tax (AMT) free of the passive loss limitations of the 
IRS thereby expanding the market to include 
individual local investors in tax credits as well as 
corporate investors. 
 
20% Federal Tax Credit 
 The HTC is a dollar-for-dollar reduction of 

federal tax liability for 20% of eligible costs to 
rehabilitate a certified historic structure. 

Real Estate Professional (REP) – is defined as a 
person who: 
 Spends more than 50% of their time and 

more than 750 hours per year engaged in 
real estate activities; and 

 Owns at least 5% of the real estate business 
where they work. 

 
Qualifying real estate activities include work 
performed by: 
 Real estate developers 
 Construction contractors 
 Property managers 
 Real estate brokers 
 Leasing agents 
 Architects 
 

 
HTC credit team – is critical to getting the HTC 
certified and sold and is composed of 
individuals who have experience with the HTC 
including: 
 Tax attorney 
 Tax accountant 
 Preservation consultant 
 Experienced architect 
 Rehab contractor 
 State historic preservation office (SHPO) 

 



 

H-9 
Appendix H: Prototype Concepts 

MLK Subarea Plan 
 

 The property must be listed in or eligible for 
listing in the National Register of Historic 
Places or a contributing building in a National 
Register historic district. 

 The building has to be an income producing 
building –rental housing is eligible for the 20% 
credit. 

 The application consists of Parts 1, 2, and 3 
and must be submitted to the State Historic 
Preservation Office, which makes 
recommendations and submits the application 
to the National Park Service (NPS) for final 
approval. 

 The rehab over a 24-month period must be 
“substantial”, defined as $5,000 or the 
building’s adjusted tax basis (acquisition cost 
plus cost of improvements minus value of land 
minus depreciation taken) whichever is greater. 

 The HTC is 20% of the eligible rehab and rehab-
related “soft costs” including construction loan 
interest, appraisals, construction lender points, 
architectural and engineering fees, and 
environmental evaluations. 

 The exterior and interior rehab must meet the 
Secretary of the Interior’s Standards as 
interpreted by the Station Historic Preservation 
Office (SHPO) and the National Park Service 
(NPS). 

 The credit may only be claimed by building 
owners after the property is place in service 
(generally a certificate of occupancy); and 
investor may claim the credit only if they have 
admitted to the partnership before the building 
is placed in service. 

 The tax credit is applied against tax liability 
and can be divided up and carried back 1 year 
and forward 20 years. (Individuals who earn 
more than $200,000 cannot claim the full value 
of the credit, and individuals who earn more 
than $250,000 cannot use the credit at all.) 

 Transfer of ownership or adverse change to a 
character-defining feature of the building 
during the 5-eyar compliance period triggers 
recapture of the credits (20% recapture for 
every year left in the compliance period). 

 The credit may be taken by the owner or be 
transferred to an investor. 

 
10% Federal Tax Credit  
 The HTC is for nonresidential properties built 

before 1936 – a mixed-use project can take the 
10% credit on the commercial portion only. 

 The building must be a non-certified historic 
structure, i.e., neither listed in the National 
Register of Historic Places nor a contributing 
structure in the National Register historic 
district. 

National Register of Historic Places/District  
The National Register is maintained by the US 
Department of the Interior. In Washington State, 
the National Register program is administered 
by the National Register Coordinator at the 
Department of Archaeology & Historic 
Preservation (DAHP). A National Register 
District: 
 
 Identifies significant properties and 

districts for general planning purpose. 
 Analyzes and assesses the historic 

character and quality of the district. 
 Designates historic areas based on uniform 

national criteria and procedures. 
 Sets district boundaries tightly, based on 

the actual distribution pattern of intact 
historic properties in the area. 

 Makes available specific federal and state 
tax incentives for preservation purposes. 

 Provides a limited degree of protection 
from the effects of federally assisted 
undertakings. 

 Qualifies property owners for federal and 
state grants for preservation purposes, 
when funds are available. 

 Does not restrict the use or disposition of 
property or obligate private property 
owners in any way. 

 Does not require conformance to design 
guidelines or preservation standards when 
property is rehabilitated unless specific 
preservation incentives (tax credits, grants) 
are involved. 

 Does not affect state and local government 
activities. 

 Does not prevent the demolition of historic 
buildings and structures within designated 
areas. 

 
Local Historic District 
A local historic district is a district designated 
by a local ordinance that falls under the 
jurisdiction of a local Historic Preservation 
Review Commission. A local historic district is 
generally “overlaid” on the existing zoning 
classifications and deals only with the 
appearance of the district, not with the uses of 
the properties. 
 
The Historic Preservation Commission reviews 
major changes that are planned for the district 
and issues Certificates of Appropriateness 
which allow the proposed changes to take 
place. A Local Historic District: 
 
 
 
 



 

H-10 
Prototype Concepts 
MLK Subarea Plan 
 

 There is no review and there are no federal 
design standards. 

 The rehab must retain 50% of the original 
exterior walls, and 75% of the original exterior 
walls must remain either as exterior or interior 
walls. 

 The rehab must keep 75% of the internal 
structural framework in place. 

 
Washington State Tax Incentive Program 
In 1985 the Legislature passed a law that allows for 
a “special valuation” for certain historic properties 
in the state. The law specifies that following a 
rehabilitation project, property taxes will not 
reflect substantial improvements made to the 
property for a period of 10 years. To be eligible for 
special valuation, a property must: 
 
 Be listed in the National Register of Historic 

Places, individually, or certified as contributing 
to the significance of a National Register 
Historic District as certified by their local 
government or the Washington State 
Department of Archaeology & Historic 
Preservation (DAHP). 

 OR, be listed in the Local Register of Historic 
Places established by a Certified Local 
Government (CLG). 

 AND, be of a class of properties approved by 
the local government. 

 
The work must have been completed within 2 years 
prior to application and must be equal in cost to at 
least 25% of the assessed value of the structure 
prior to rehabilitation. 
 
Property owners must sign an agreement with the 
local review board that guarantees they will meet 
the following standards during the 10-year tax 
exemption period: 
 
 The property must be maintained in good 

condition. 
 The owner must obtain approval from the local 

review board prior to making further 
improvements. 

 The property must be visible from a public 
right-of-way, or otherwise be made available 
for public viewing once every year. 

 
If the agreements are violated, the property owner 
must pay back taxes which would otherwise have 
been owed, interest on back taxes, and a penalty 
equal to 12% of back taxes and interest. 
 
www.dahp.wa.gov 
 
 

 Protects a community’s historic properties 
and areas through a design review process. 

 Protects the historic character and quality 
of the district with specific design controls. 

 Designates historic areas on the basis of 
local criteria and local procedures. 

 Sets district boundaries based on the 
distribution pattern of historic resources 
plus other preservation and community 
planning considerations. 

 Provides no tax incentives for preservation 
purposes unless such are provided by local 
tax law. 

 Provides no additional protection from the 
effects of federally assisted undertakings. 

 Does not qualify property owners for 
federal or state grants for preservation 
purposes. 

 Does not restrict the use to which property 
is put in the district or require property 
owners to make improvements to their 
property. 

 Requires local historic preservation 
commission’s review and approval, based 
on conformance to local design guidelines, 
before a building permit is issued for any 
“material changes” in appearance to the 
district. 

 Does not affect federal, state, or local 
government activities. 

 Provides for review of proposed 
demolitions within designated areas; may 
prevent or delay proposed demolitions for 
specified time periods to allow for 
preservation alternatives. 



 

 

 

Tacoma’s Municipal Services Center property 

Community 
HealthCare 

Allen 
Renaissance 

Muni Services 
Center 

MLK Way 

Earnest S Brazill/South 12th Street 

South 13th Street 

Post Office 

Butcher Shop 



 

 

 

Municipal Services Center – envelope 
analysis 
 
11 stall parking floor with 1,350 square foot retail frontage 
11,250 square foot mixed income housing = 11 units at 1,000 sf/du if 1 parking 
stall/du 
Or 16,650 square foot mixed income housing = 16 units if 0.7 parking stall/du 
Or 22,050 square foot mixed income housing = 22 units if 0.5 parking stall/du 
 

1,350 sf retail 
frontage 

11 parking 
stall floor 

M
L
K

 W
a
y
 

South 13th Street 



 

 

  

Rite Aid (Save-A-Lot) Properties 

Save-A-Lot 

Save-A-Lot 
parking lot 
 

Fellowship 
Group 

Earnest S Brazill/South 12th Street 

South 11th Street 

MLK Way 

J Street 



 

 

  

Save-A-Lot – envelope analysis 

122 stall 
parking deck 

94 stall 
parking deck 

29 stall 
parking deck 

9,300 sf artist 
live/work 

J 
St

re
e
t 

J 
St

re
e
t 

M
L
K

 W
a
y
 

South 11th Street 

South 12th Street 

Level B                  Level A 



 

 

  

18 stall 
parking deck 

Level 1                                            Level 2-5 

Save-A-Lot – envelope analysis 

7,600 sf retail 
frontage 

4,650 sf artist 
live/work loft 

13,500 sf 
mixed income 
housing 

94,150 sf 
mixed income 
housing 38,400 sf 

mixed income 
housing 

Save-A-Lot 

Fellowship 
Hall 



 

 

 

Save-A-Lot – envelope analysis 
 
13,950 square feet artist live/work on J Street 
20,400 square feet retail frontage with upper floor office on MLK Way 
145 mixed income housing (145,450 square feet at 1,000 sf/du) 
263 stalls on parking decks with residual of 118 stalls for Save-A-Lot and retail if 1 
stall/du 
 

Artist live/work 

Artist live/work 

Parking decks 

Parking decks 

Save-A-Lot 

Fellowship Group 

Retail/office 

Mixed income 
housing 
 

Mixed income 
housing 
 

Terraces/roof 
plaza 
 

Roof 
gardens/solar 
 
 J 

St
re

e
t 

M
L
K

 W
a
y
 

South 11th Street 

South 12th Street 



Save-A-Lot 

J Street MLK
Site area 40,300 14,000
Level Use # Use #

B parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 122 parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 29
A parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 94 parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 18

artist live/work ground 9,300 retail storefront 7,600
1 artist live/work loft 4,650 retail loft/office 12,800

mixed income housing 13,500 mixed income housing 0
2 mixed income housing 25,800 mixed income housing 9,600
3 mixed income housing 24,600 mixed income housing 9,600
4 mixed income housing 23,400 mixed income housing 9,600
5 mixed income housing 20,350 mixed income housing 9,000

Subtotals parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 217 parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 47
artist live/work loft 13,950 artist live/work loft 0
retail storefront w/loft 0 retail storefront w/loft 20,400
mixed income housing 107,650 mixed income housing 37,800
dwelling units @ 1000 sf 108 dwelling units @ 1000 sf 38

Totals parking - 90 degree, 9 foot 263
artist live/work 13,950
retail/office 20,400
mixed income housing 145,450
dwelling units @ 1000 sf 145
Save-A-Lot parking if housing units average 1 stall/dwelling unit 118



 

 

Envelope Studies – 
actual 
developments 
 



 

 

  



 

 

  



 

 

  



 

 

 

 



 



lwung
Text Box
Agenda ItemC-1



 



lwung
Text Box
Agenda ItemC-2





 
 Agenda Item

C-3 

 

 
City of Tacoma 
Community and Economic Development Department 

 
 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Lihuang Wung, Senior Planner, Planning Division 
 
SUBJECT: Planning Commission Accomplishments for 2011-2012 
 
DATE: August 29, 2012 
 
 
Per Tacoma Municipal Code Section 13.02.040.L, one of the Planning Commission’s duties and 
responsibilities is to “provide an annual report to the City Council regarding accomplishments 
and the status of planning efforts undertaken in the previous year.”  Attached, prepared for such 
reporting, is the Planning Commission Accomplishments (July 2011 – June 2012). 
 
The document is being included in your agenda packet for the September 5, 2012 meeting as a 
communication item, for which no discussion is deemed necessary.  However, if you have any 
questions or suggestions for editing, please advise. 
 
After the September 5th meeting, the document will be submitted to the City Council, along with 
a summary of the planning activities scheduled for 2012-2013 and a summary of the 
applications for the 2013 Annual Amendment to the Comprehensive Plan and the Land Use 
Regulatory Code. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact me at (253) 591-5682 or lwung@cityoftacoma.org. 
 
 
Attachment 
 
c: Peter Huffman, Assistant Director 

747 Market Street, Room 1036  ▌ Tacoma, Washington 98402-3793  ▌ (253) 591-5200 
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning 

mailto:lwung@cityoftacoma.org


 



  City of Tacoma 
 Planning Commission 
 

Planning Commission Accomplishments 2011-2012 August 29, 2012 Page 1 of 4 

Planning Commission Accomplishments  
(July 2011 – June 2012) 

 
August 29, 2012 

 
 

This document highlights the Planning Commission’s major accomplishments during July 2011 through 
June 2012 and is prepared pursuant to Tacoma Municipal Code Section 13.02.040.L as the 2012 Annual 
Report to the City Council.  For those ongoing projects that have been carried beyond the end of the 
reporting timeframe, appropriate information as of the date of the report is provided.   
(This report is also posted at www.cityoftacoma.org/planning > “Planning Commission”.) 
 
 
A. Projects Reviewed and Recommended to the City Council:  
 
• Code Streamlining 2012 

This code amendment is intended to help reduce barriers to infill development and the reuse of 
existing commercial buildings.  It is comprised of three proposals: (1) expanding the “home 
occupation” use in the Downtown and Mixed-Use Districts to include Live-Work/Work-Live regulations; 
(2) adopting increased thresholds for Environmental (SEPA) review; and (3) adding a parking 
exemption for existing buildings in Commercial Districts outside of the Downtown and Mixed-Use 
Districts.  The Commission began the review in May-June 2012, conducted a public hearing on July 
18, and forwarded its recommendations to the City Council on August 1, 2012.  The Council 
conducted a study session and a public hearing on August 28, and is scheduled to consider adoption 
of the Commission’s recommendations by the end of September 2012.  
(www.cityoftacoma.org/planning > “Code Streamlining 2012”) 
 

• 2012 Annual Amendment to the Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Regulatory Code:  
The Annual Amendment Package initially included seven applications, concerning (1) Container Port 
Element, (2) Housing Element, (3) Transportation Element, (4) Sign Code Revisions, (5) Platting and 
Subdivision Code Revisions, (6) Urban Forestry Code Revisions, and (7) Minor Amendments & 
Refinements.  All applications were reviewed by the Commission during August 2011 through 
February 2012, while four of them (#1, #4, #5, and #6 above) were later separated from the annual 
amendment process due to staffing changes, reprioritization and/or the need for further outreach and 
coordination.  The Commission continued to review the remaining three (#2, #3, and #7), conducted a 
public hearing on March 7, and made its recommendations to the City Council on April 18, 2012.  The 
Council conducted a public hearing on May 22, and adopted the proposed amendments on 
June 12, 2012.  
(www.cityoftacoma.org/planning > “Annual Amendments”) 
 

• Shoreline Master Program (SMP) Update 
The SMP update also included the development of the Shoreline Restoration Plan, Public Access 
Alternatives Plan, and Thea Foss Waterway Design Guidelines.  The SMP update had been under 
review since 2006.  The Commission conducted a public hearing on June 1, 2011, and forwarded its 
recommendations to the City Council on August 17, 2011.  The Council conducted a joint study 
session with the Commission on September 27, held a public hearing on September 27, and adopted 
the Commission’s recommendations, with modifications, on November 29, 2011.  The updated SMP 
package has been submitted to, and is currently under review by, the Department of Ecology.  
(www.cityoftacoma.org/planning > “Shoreline Master Program Update”) 
 
 

http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning


• Downtown Off-Street Parking Requirements 
This land use code amendment was proposed to reduce the off-street parking requirements for new 
development in downtown. The Commission reviewed the proposal in May-November 2011, 
conducted a public hearing on September 21, and recommended to the City Council on 
November 2, 2011.  The Council held a public hearing on January 24, 2012, and adopted the 
Commission’s recommendations, with modifications, on February 21, 2012.  
(www.cityoftacoma.org/planning > “Downtown Code Update – Off-Street Parking Requirements”) 
 

• Critical Areas Preservation Ordinance (CAPO) Update 
The primary focus of this code amendment included voluntary restoration and enhancement, small 
development project permit processes, wetland buffer refinement, mitigation options, including 
mitigation banks and in-lieu fee programs, and general code reorganization and clean-up.  The 
Commission’s review began in September 2010 and was completed a year later with a public hearing 
held on September 21, 2011 and its recommendations forwarded to the City Council on 
February 15, 2012.  The Council held a public hearing on April 17, and adopted the Commission’s 
recommendations on May 8, 2012.   
(www.cityoftacoma.org/planning  > “Critical Areas Preservation Code Update (2012)”) 
 

• Medical Cannabis Moratorium 
The City Council enacted a 6-month moratorium on August 2, 2011, prohibiting the acceptance of 
applications for the establishment, location, operation, licensing, permitting, maintenance, or 
continuation of medical cannabis collective gardens or medical cannabis dispensaries within the City.  
The Commission reviewed the matter in August-September 2011, conducted a public hearing on 
September 7, and recommended on September 7 that the moratorium be extended to 12-months.  
The Council conducted a public hearing on September 27, and decided on October 4 to extend the 
moratorium through August 1, 2012.  The Commission worked September 2011 through May 2012 to 
develop revisions to the Land Use Code, conducted a public hearing on May 16, 2012, and 
recommended such to the Council on June 6, 2012.  The Council conducted a public hearing on June 
26, but did not adopt the Commission’s recommendations; instead, the Council adopted revisions to 
the Nuisance Code on July 31, 2012.  
(www.cityoftacoma.org/planning  > “Medical Cannabis Moratorium”) 
 

• Large-Scale Retail Moratorium 
The City Council enacted a 6-month moratorium on August 30, 2011, prohibiting the filing or 
acceptance of applications for land use, building or other development permits associated with the 
establishment, location, or permitting of retail sales establishments with a floor area greater than 
65,000 square feet within the City.  The Commission reviewed the matter in September-October 2011, 
conducted a public hearing on October 5, and recommended on October 19 that the moratorium be 
extended to 12-months.  The Council conducted a study session and a public hearing on October 25 
and decided on November 1, 2011 to retain the moratorium for 6-months.  The Commission reviewed 
the issue over the next two months and developed corresponding revisions to the Land Use Code, 
conducted a public hearing on December 7, and forwarded its recommendations to the Council on 
January 4, 2012.  The Council conducted a study session and a public hearing on January 31, and 
adopted the Commission’s recommendations, with modifications, on February 14, 2012. 
(www.cityoftacoma.org/planning  > “Large Scale Retail Moratorium”) 
 

• Billboard Moratorium and Billboard Regulations 
These matters had been through the Commission’s review process in the previous reporting period 
(i.e., 2010-2011), but the Council’s actions occurred during this reporting period (2011-2012).  The 
Council adopted the Commission’s recommendations concerning the Billboard Moratorium on July 19, 
2011, and adopted the Commission’s recommendations concerning the Billboard Regulations, with 
modifications, on August 9, 2011. 
(www.cityoftacoma.org/planning  > “Billboard Moratorium” or “Billboard Regulations”) 
 

Planning Commission Accomplishments 2011-2012 August 29, 2012 Page 2 of 4 

http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning


Planning Commission Accomplishments 2011-2012 August 29, 2012 Page 3 of 4 

B. Projects Reviewed and Discussed: 
 
• Transfer of Development Rights (TDR) 

The City is in the process of developing a TDR Program that addresses sending and receiving areas, 
exchange commodities and rates, and market analysis.  The Commission reviewed the subject in 
September 2011 and May 2012, and will continue to review in 2012-2013.   
(www.cityoftacoma.org/planning > “Transfer of Development Rights (TDR)”) 
 

• MLK Subarea Plan and EIS 
The City is working with residents, businesses and property owners to prepare a Subarea Plan and 
EIS intended to encourage development and economic revitalization in the MLK District.  The 
Commission reviewed the subject in January, March and May of 2012, and will continue to review in 
2012-2013, with expected recommendation in early 2013. 
(www.cityoftacoma.org/planning > “MLK Subarea Plan & EIS”) 
 

• South Downtown Subarea Plan and EIS 
The City is also working with residents, businesses and property owners to prepare a Subarea Plan 
and EIS intended to encourage development and economic revitalization in the southern portion of 
Downtown Tacoma, including the Dome District, the Brewery District, the Thea Foss Waterway, and 
the University of Washington Tacoma campus.  The Commission reviewed the subject in October 
2011, March and May of 2012, and will continue to review through 2012-2013.   
(www.cityoftacoma.org/planning > “South Downtown Subarea Plan & EIS”) 
 

• Development and Permitting Activities Reports 
The Commission received updates on development permits and emerging trends in permit activity 
from Building and Land Use Services; the Commission reviewed such information in August 2011, 
February 2012, and July 2012. 
 

• Port of Tacoma Public Access Plan 
The Commission reviewed the scope of work and public outreach efforts for this project in March 
2012, in relation with the City’s efforts toward implementation of the Shoreline Master Program. 
 

• Urban Forestry Code Revisions 
This project was separated from the 2012 Annual Amendment package in February 2012, due to the 
need for further outreach and coordination.  The Commission reviewed the matter in August-
December of 2011 and March-May of 2012, and conducted a public hearing on May 2, 2012.  The 
Commission will continue its review in 2012-2013, with expected recommendation in early 2013.   
(www.cityoftacoma.org/planning > “Urban Forestry Landscaping Code Update”) 
 
 

C. Meetings Conducted / Attended: 
 
The Commission meets every first and third Wednesdays of the month.  From July 2011 to June 2012, 
the Commission held 23 meetings and canceled one in January 2012.  Included in the 23 regular 
meetings were 8 public hearings, as listed below: 
  

1. Moratorium – Medical Cannabis (September 7, 2011) 
2. Code Amendment – Downtown Off-Street Parking (September 21, 2011) 

 

 
 

 
) 

3. Code Amendment – Critical Areas Preservation Ordinance  (September 21, 2011)
4. Moratorium – Large-Scale Retail Establishments (October 5, 2011) 
5. Code Amendment – Large Scale Retail Establishments (December 7, 2011)
6. Plan and Code Amendments – 2012 Annual Amendment (March 7, 2012)
7. Code Amendment – Urban Forestry Landscaping Code (May 2, 2012)
8. Code Amendment – Medical Cannabis Land Use Regulations (May 16, 2012

http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning
http://www.cityoftacoma.org/planning


Planning Commission Accomplishments 2011-2012 August 29, 2012 Page 4 of 4 

 
Individual Commissioners have also participated in various community workshops and special functions, 
such as (list not exhaustive):  

1. “Conversation RE: Tacoma” Urban Design Lecture Series (September 15, October 20 and
November 17, 2011) 

 

1) 

2) 
 

) 
 

2. “Revising the Foss” Workshop Series by Foss Waterway Development Authority (September 27-
29, 201

3. MLK Subarea Plan and EIS Community Workshops (January 5, 2012; February 9, 2012; March 
22, 2012; May 24, 201

4. South Downtown Subarea Plan and EIS Working Group Meetings (March 21, 2012)
5. Port of Tacoma Public Access Plan Open House (March 6, 2012
6. “May is Bike Month!” (May 2012)

 
 
D. Special Note:  
 
The Mobility Master Plan (reviewed and recommended by the Commission in 2010, and subsequently 
adopted by the Council into the Transportation Element of the Comprehensive Plan) received the 2011 
VISION 2040 Award from the Puget Sound Regional Council, in September 2011, for its innovative 
projects, programs and strategies for pedestrian and bicycle improvements that will help achieve the 
goals of sustainable transportation and active living.  
 
 
E. Membership Change (July 2011 – August 2012): 

 
District /  
Expertise Areas Commissioner Notes 

District 1 
Peter Elswick Served through August 2011 (term expiration) 
Scott Winship Appointed in September 2011 

District 2 Sean Gaffney Vice-Chair since March 2012 

District 3 
Chris Beale Served through March 2012, and moved out 

of the City 
Benjamin Fields Appointed in July 2012 

District 4 Matthew Nutsch  

District 5 
Jeremy Doty Served through March 2012, as Chair, and 

moved out of the City 
Mark Lawlis Appointed in August 2012 

Development Community 
Tom O’Connor Term expired August 2011 
Erle Thompson Appointed in August 2011 

Environmental Community 
Ian Morrison Resigned in April 2012 

Theresa Dusek Appointed in May 2012 

Public Transportation 
Scott Morris Served through July 2011 (term expiration) 

Tina Lee Appointed in August 2011 

Architecture, Historic Preservation, 
and/or Urban Design Donald Erickson Vice-Chair from July 2011 to March 2012, and 

Chair since March 2012  
 


	Agenda (9-5-12)
	(4:05 p.m.) 1. Regional Transfer of Development Rights (TDR)
	(4:30 p.m.) 2. MLK Subarea Plan and EIS

	Minutes (8-1-12)
	GB1 Packet - TDR (9-5-12)
	GB1 Memo - TDR (9-5-12)
	SUBJECT: Transfer of Development Rights (TDR)

	GB1 Attach1 - TDR Memo to EDC (8-16-12)
	GB1 Attach2 - Draft TDR Code (Aug2012)
	GB1 Attach3 - Draft TDR Resolution with King Snohomish (Aug2012)
	GB1 Attach4 - Draft TDR Interlocal with Pierce (Aug2012)
	GB1 Attach4a - ExhA to Interlocal with Pierce (Aug2012)

	GB2 Packet - MLK Subarea Plan (9-5-12)
	SUBJECT: MLK Subarea Plan – Status Update
	GB2 Attachments - MLK Subarea Plan (9-5-12).pdf
	Overview Handout (8-30-12)
	Draft Vision Statement
	McCarver Charettes Overview
	Poster Board 4
	Oral History Overview
	Historic Communities Overview
	Communities Poster NRichter [Revised]
	Timeline Poster Final NRichter [Revised]
	Healthy Community Evaluation Overview
	Determinants of Health & Causal Pathways Poster
	Public Comments Poster
	Previous Studies Board2
	MLK - catalytic sites envelope analysis
	MLKHDA - Envelope Analysis.pdf
	MLKHDA site analysis.pdf
	Sheet1


	Brown's Star Grill - Envelope Analysis.pdf
	Brown's Star Grill site analysis.pdf
	Sheet1


	Save-A-Lot - Envelope Analysis.pdf
	Save-A-Lot site analysis.pdf
	Sheet1





	C1 HEX Decision (8-2-12)
	C2 Letter on Electronic Signs (Dale Cope 7-30-12)
	C3 Packet - PC Accomplishments 2011-2012 (9-5-12)
	C3 Memo - PC Accomplishments 2011-2012 (9-5-12)
	SUBJECT: Planning Commission Accomplishments for 2011-2012

	C3 Attach - PC Accomplishments 2011-2012 (8-29-12)revised per Brian




